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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I realize that

          3  we have a standing room only crowd in the other

          4  room.  And so, considering the popularity of this

          5  hearing today, I thought we better get started so

          6  that we will have enough time to go through these

          7  very important issues.  But, I am Council Member

          8  Bill Perkins, Chair of the City Council's Committee

          9  on Governmental Operations.  The Governmental

         10  Operations Committee is responsible for maintaining

         11  oversight on the electoral process in this city.

         12                 Today we will be conducting an

         13  oversight hearing on Campaign Finance Reform, as

         14  well as reviewing several bills that deal with

         15  improving our election system.  New York City has

         16  been trail blazing in regards to Campaign Finance

         17  Reform.  This Council first enacted Campaign Finance

         18  Reform legislation back in 1988.  We created a

         19  program that has been a model for other cities and

         20  the nation as a whole.  We considered the program a

         21  master piece, but of course, it is not perfect, but

         22  rather an ongoing work in progress.

         23                 We will inquire into the new Campaign

         24  Finance Board, how the Board administers the

         25  program, and review some suggestions to make it
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          2  better.  This Committee has held several oversight

          3  hearings on the implementation of the federal and

          4  state Motor- voter Laws and the local Pro- voter

          5  Law.  During our oversight hearing we had uncovered

          6  that our local mandate was not as strong as it

          7  should be, and there were questions about

          8  compliance.

          9                 Two bills that we will be reviewing

         10  today strengthen such a mandate.  Introductory Bills

         11  1 and 61, amend the Pro- voter Law by mandating

         12  annual training for agencies, verbal assistance for

         13  the public, and agency transmission of registration

         14  forms, and that Borough Presidents provide training

         15  to Community Board members and staff on the

         16  obligations to comply with the New York City Pro-

         17  Voter Law.

         18                 Respectively, Intro. No. 125, amends

         19  the Campaign Finance Act by creating a referendum

         20  finance program within the current finance program.

         21                 Proposed Intro. 279- A provides that

         22  candidates participating in the Campaign Finance

         23  Program may withhold a portion of public funds, when

         24  paying the City back, or be reasonably reimbursed

         25  for costs associated with post- election audits.
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          2                 Intro. No. 388, includes Candidates

          3  for Justice of the Supreme Court, Surrogate Court,

          4  or Civil Court in the New York City Voluntary

          5  Campaign Finance Program.

          6                 Intro. No. 467 pertains to limiting

          7  the amount of money that entities that are doing

          8  business with the City may contribute to candidates

          9  for City elections.

         10                 Intro. No. 496 deals with

         11  restructuring the Voter Assistance Commission.  And

         12  there will be a preconsidered introductory bill that

         13  creates orderly and responsible time frames in pass

         14  of communication between the Campaign Finance Board,

         15  and the candidates that participate in the system

         16  will also be discussed.

         17                 Expected to testify are

         18  representatives of the Campaign Finance Board, the

         19  Administration, advocacy groups, and election

         20  experts.

         21                 Before we begin, I would like to

         22  acknowledge the members of the Committee that are

         23  with us so far.  To my far left, as always, I want

         24  to acknowledge Council Member Joseph Addabbo, who is

         25  the Chair of our Civil Service and Labor Committee.
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          2  Next to him is Council Member Philip Reed, who is

          3  the Chair of our Consumer Affairs Committee.  And

          4  then of course, there is our Majority Whip and Chair

          5  of our Rule, Privileges, and Elections Committee,

          6  Council Member Leroy Comrie.  We are also joined, to

          7  my immediate left by Counsel to the Committee

          8  Matthew Tollin.  I want to acknowledge Sandy Dillon,

          9  our Policy Analyst, and Maria Alverado, our Press

         10  Secretary.

         11                 So we will begin with our first

         12  Committee representing the Campaign Finance Board.

         13  So I think that is Fritz Schwarz, FAO Schwarz.

         14                 MR. TOLLIN:  Good morning.  Could you

         15  each raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly swear

         16  or affirm the testimony that you are about to give

         17  is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

         18  truth.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I do.

         20                 MR. TOLLIN:  Thank you.  Could you

         21  before testifying, state your name and your

         22  affiliation with the Board.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ:  My name is Fritz

         24  Schwarz, and I am the Chair of the Campaign Finance

         25  Board, and I think I will do most of the initial
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          2  testimony, and then my colleagues probably will

          3  participate in answering questions.

          4                 Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to be

          5  here.  I would like to note for the record, that I

          6  think the City and this Council is unfortunate to

          7  lose the services of the man to your left, Matt

          8  Tollin, who has been a very good lawyer.  The City

          9  will miss him, I believe.

         10                 So, I know we are going to be talking

         11  about a variety of topics today, and my colleagues

         12  and I are prepared to answer any questions on them.

         13  I have some very brief opening comments.

         14                 The first is sort of, to put us in

         15  context.  The Board is a trustee of the public, and

         16  it is acutely aware that there is a tension in our

         17  dual mandates.

         18                 Mandate number one is to administer

         19  the Campaign Finance Program in order to disburse

         20  public funds in a timely way to candidates during an

         21  election.

         22                 And mandate number two is to protect

         23  the public fund from error, abuse, and in a few

         24  cases even fraud.

         25                 We are also aware of another
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          2  potential tension inherent in a relationship where

          3  you oversee us, and we have responsibility to

          4  oversee the way you have conducted your campaigns.

          5  And that creates a delicate relationship that both

          6  sides have to be careful in how they carry out their

          7  responsibilities.  I know as elected representatives

          8  of the citizens of New York, you as much as anyone

          9  appreciate the seriousness with which the Board

         10  takes its responsibilities.

         11                 And many of you, as the Chairman did

         12  in his opening remarks, hold the program up as a

         13  model for nation.  If we are, one of the reasons is

         14  that we are a nonpartisan, we attempt to be

         15  evenhanded, and we attempt to enforce the law

         16  vigorously.

         17                 A couple of comments on new things,

         18  since we last appeared before you.  You passed the

         19  three bills.  The Board is gearing up for its

         20  responsibilities during the 2005 elections. In

         21  anticipation of the changes in the bills you have

         22  passed, we are planning the necessary Administrative

         23  changes.

         24                 There is a new and improved candidate

         25  handbook. Let me make a comment about that.  You
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          2  know for you as candidates, this is a thick

          3  handbook.  And it is really good in laying out what

          4  the requirements are.  I think, probably, candidates

          5  often do not have time to sit down and read this

          6  thick handbook.  And that is understandable, you

          7  have jobs as elected officials or as candidates from

          8  the outside.  It is really important that your

          9  treasurers look at that handbook carefully, because

         10  most of the things which end up with mistakes that

         11  cause, you know, where we have to look at penalties,

         12  and your involved in that, are things that are

         13  actually covered in the handbook. And we have been

         14  thinking a little bit about the candidates, and I do

         15  not think one can expect the candidates to read a

         16  200 or 300 page book, but is there some way to

         17  calling candidates attention to some of the most

         18  salient things in the handbook that might make them

         19  get after their treasurers a little more, and say

         20  are you being sure that you are being careful about

         21  such and such a point.

         22                 So, we are going to be making changes

         23  in our literature, additional, and if there are any

         24  rules we have address because of the new

         25  legislation, we will be doing that. On the
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          2  legislation, as you know, there are many aspects of

          3  it that the Board was pleased to see enacted into

          4  law.  And we are especially pleased that the Council

          5  broadened the statute to cover non- participants'

          6  disclosure and contributions, which helps on the

          7  main aim of the Campaign Finance Law, which is to

          8  reduce the influence of money, and to level the

          9  playing field to a greater extent.

         10                 While that was a good start, another

         11  landmark along the way of improving the program,

         12  which this Council has consistently done, I have to

         13  say that we were really disappointed that the

         14  Council dropped provisions from the draft bill that

         15  would have cut back on public funds payments in

         16  noncompetitive races.  That is really a problem,

         17  which I think is going to remain to wrestle with.

         18  And if it is not wrestled with, I think ultimately,

         19  the public support for Campaign Finance Reform is

         20  going to diminish.

         21                 So, I would urge you, Mr. Chairman, I

         22  am going to make one other urge to you before I

         23  finish.  But, I would urge you to take another shot

         24  at looking at the question of finding a way to

         25  reduce public fund payments in races that are not
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          2  competitive.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me just

          4  say, if I may on that note.  Personally, I am

          5  probably sympathetic to your urging, but we have to

          6  make the case better to the rest of those who have

          7  understood to have some problems.  So, I think that

          8  institutionally we are very, very sensitive to the

          9  public support for the program and those measures

         10  that might challenge that support.  And so this is

         11  one in which we will continue to try to massage, and

         12  make it acceptable to the members, as well as what

         13  is in the best interest of the City.

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ:  In that spirit, Mr.

         15  Chairman, if you found a forum in which you think it

         16  would appropriate for us to talk through the issues

         17  in a really, informal way, with other members, I

         18  think, we would certainly be willing, if you pulled

         19  such a group together to participate in it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you for

         21  that invitation.  I think I will take you up on it

         22  and we will talk some more about it.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Now I want to talk a

         24  little bit about the subject of doing business with

         25  the City.  There has been a lot of attention
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          2  recently paid to the subject of contributions from

          3  people doing business with the City.  We, as a

          4  Board, believe that this is an area that ought to be

          5  regulated. But, the how, is really important.  And

          6  we recently sent a letter to you, Mr. Chairman,

          7  which laid out the Board's position on the best way

          8  to address the issue.  And let me just summarize

          9  that in short for you, for the rest of the members.

         10  The Board believes that a legislative solution is

         11  better than one accomplished through rule- making by

         12  the Board.  This is so, because the problem is best

         13  tackled, not be regulating candidates, which is all

         14  we can do, but rather by regulating contributors who

         15  do business, directly regulating contributors who do

         16  business.

         17                 I am amazed at the applause for my

         18  remarks here. Now, in fact, that is the way that New

         19  Jersey, which the Chief Executive of the City has

         20  recently referred to, and the Securities Industry,

         21  and the Model Law that has been put out by good

         22  government groups.  They all proceed by regulating

         23  the people who make the contributions, not by trying

         24  to regulate candidates.

         25                 The Board has no power to do anything
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          2  other than to regulate candidates.  And another

          3  reason why this subject should be addressed by

          4  legislation and not by the Board's regulation, is

          5  because only by legislation can a solution reach all

          6  persons running for office, and not only people who

          7  happen to be in the program.  And again of course,

          8  we have no power to do anything, except with respect

          9  to people in the program.

         10                 But if the Council does not decide to

         11  address this subject by way of legislation, there is

         12  the mandate in the 1988 Charter, that the Board

         13  ought to consider the subject.  And we will consider

         14  the subject.  And we will hold hearings, and very

         15  likely we will end up doing some form of regulation

         16  which could only be in the less satisfactory means,

         17  regulation of the candidates.

         18                 So, I would like to think through

         19  with you, what would then happen?  And why I think,

         20  when you think about what would then happen, the

         21  Council may well conclude that it is in the public

         22  interest for the Council to proceed, now.  I mean

         23  not tomorrow morning, but proceed now.  You see, if

         24  we come up with a regulation and we regulate, as all

         25  we can do, and which the Charter seems to say we
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          2  should do, if we regulate candidates, you in the

          3  Council who are going to be candidates in the

          4  program are going to say, gee, that is not fair.

          5  Everybody should be regulated.  And you are also

          6  going to say, how am I going to enforce, how am I,

          7  as a candidate, how am I going to enforce a rule

          8  that says that I cannot accept contributions from

          9  people doing business with the City, or I cannot

         10  accept contributions over a certain dollar figure?

         11                 So, if we act, then the Council, I

         12  think is going to want to react.  And to me, the

         13  Council would look so much more forceful and so much

         14  more in control of the subject, if you seized it in

         15  the first instance rather than waiting for us to

         16  act.

         17                 Now I should say, there is one other

         18  thing that has to be accomplished before there can

         19  be any appropriate legislation or regulation of

         20  people doing business with the City. The City has to

         21  come up with a database, which can be used to show

         22  who is doing business with the City.  Now that

         23  sounds like a simple thing.  But it is not a simple

         24  thing to know every entity that is doing business

         25  with the City, and the owners of that entity.

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Now, the Campaign Finance Board

          3  starting under Father O'Hare, in 1988, and in a

          4  letter that they wrote the then Corporation Counsel

          5  in 2000, Father O'Hare wrote, said, you know City,

          6  we cannot proceed with a legitimate, enforceable

          7  regulation until you get the database produced.  And

          8  Nicole and other colleagues have been working with

          9  the City over the last year, but the City still has

         10  not acted to produce a database.  There might be

         11  some things that you could imagine that the Council

         12  could do, that would push the City on that subject.

         13                 So, the final thing that I want to

         14  talk about in my preliminary comments, Mr. Chairman,

         15  is the, I want to talk a little bit about the

         16  Board's own process.  The Board is an investigative

         17  body, and not an adjudicative body.  And in its

         18  consideration of penalties or public fund repayment

         19  obligations, we handle those through informal

         20  hearings, not formal administrative proceedings.

         21  And Board meetings are at least not intended to be

         22  adversarial, and they are not judicial proceedings.

         23                 The informal nature of the process

         24  gives participants in the program much more leeway

         25  to address issues informally, and to permit
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          2  candidates to make their case without the necessity

          3  of hiring a lawyer, or observing formal

          4  administrative rules.  And of course it is also

          5  important to remember that the vast majority of

          6  issues are resolved for candidates at the staff

          7  level in the audit process.  I spent about six

          8  hours, about six months ago, going through the audit

          9  process of a couple of examples, just taken as

         10  random examples, and my judgement in sitting through

         11  that, you know, going through what the back and

         12  forth is with the candidates, is that the staff is

         13  very diligent, and very fair, and attempts to give

         14  numerous opportunities for candidates to respond.

         15  The staff is an arm of the Board.  It advises the

         16  Board, through all the Board's process before doing

         17  an after the Board meetings.  In the end the Board

         18  is responsible for making the ultimate decision.

         19  Sometimes the decisions are very difficult.  And we

         20  try and wrestle with them as best we can.

         21                 Anyway those are the preliminary

         22  comments.  And thank you for having us here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you for

         24  being here.  I just want, you have given us some of

         25  an overview of some of the questions and concerns
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          2  that are before us.  I want to see if we can focus a

          3  little bit on some of the bills that are on the

          4  agenda, if you can make some appropriate remarks.

          5  For instance, Intro. 125, I believe you are familiar

          6  with that bill, to amend the New York City

          7  Administrative Code in relation to creating a

          8  referenda finance program within the context of the

          9  current Campaign Finance Program.  Do you have

         10  anything to share with respect to that bill?  I am

         11  going to go through them all.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Which is 125, do you

         13  want to do them one by one or?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I was going to

         15  do, 125 is the referenda Finance Program.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Okay, let me give a

         17  couple of quick comments on that, and then my

         18  colleagues may want to jump in also.  Let me start

         19  with the positive side.  Requiring disclosure of

         20  people who fund ballot initiatives, it seems to me,

         21  is well within the power of the Council, and is a

         22  good idea, so that you would know who is paying for

         23  a ballot proposal, and how much money is he/she

         24  putting into the effort.

         25                 There is now a provision that Nicole
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          2  could describe in more detail if it is important,

          3  that sort of makes voluntary disclosure, but nobody

          4  is voluntarily decided to make disclosure.  I do not

          5  see why it would not be quite appropriate to compel

          6  timely disclosure by people who are funding ballot

          7  initiatives.

          8                 On whether there should be public

          9  funding, I think you have to worry very much about

         10  how you would control it.  What is the entity to

         11  whom funding could be given?  Because you could have

         12  a ballot provision in which there are four groups

         13  all saying they are in favor of it, and four other

         14  groups all saying they are against it, and you run

         15  the risk of not being able to control the amount of

         16  money coming in.

         17                 The other public policy point that I

         18  think you ought to worry to about, is in, and I say

         19  this as someone who ran a Charter Commission in 1989

         20  that was necessary because of the Supreme Court

         21  decision holding the Board of Estimate

         22  unconstitutional, and I think most people believe

         23  that Charter Commission did a good job.  It, among

         24  other things, enlarged the City Council and

         25  empowered the City Council, enlarged the City
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          2  Council so it has become the most diverse

          3  legislative body in the United States of America,

          4  and increased the responsibilities of the City

          5  Council.  Since the 1989 Charter, I believe the

          6  ballot initiative process, the Charter process in

          7  New York City has been abused.  It has been used far

          8  to often for purposes which are not related to the

          9  reasons why you ought to have Charter Commissions. Now

         10  , why is that relevant to this particular bill? I

         11  think you want to be careful, in addition to my

         12  first worry that I expressed, about how would you

         13  control the amount of money?  I think you want to be

         14  careful about whether providing public funding for a

         15  ballot initiatives, which in New York City

         16  essentially means Charter Commission proposals, is

         17  going to further increase the habit, which I believe

         18  is a bad habit, of the City engaging in all of these

         19  Charter Commissions.

         20                 Nicole do you have other comments on

         21  the?

         22                 MS. GORDON:  No, I just think there

         23  are difficult policy questions that have to be

         24  weighed as you consider this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I hear what you
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          2  are saying and I appreciate your observations.  Let

          3  me ask, but how do you get under control the obscene

          4  amount of money that is being spent when these

          5  initiatives are being driven from either well-

          6  endowed individuals, or from Mayors that have access

          7  to all types of resources.  How do you get that

          8  under control?   That has been the history that you

          9  are talking about since 1989, the proliferation of

         10  these have come from the other side, so to speak,

         11  and this is an effort to sort of, how do you balance

         12  that out?

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Yes.  Too much money

         14  being spent in elections is a bad idea.  The one

         15  difficulty is, I think you would have to consult

         16  with your lawyers carefully on the question can you

         17  limit the amount of money that is spent on a Charter

         18  Campaign?  You certainly could limit, I believe, the

         19  amount of money that is contributed.  But spending

         20  is under the Supreme Court decisions, is subject to

         21  a much tougher standard.  And indeed, limits on

         22  spending in at least elections, are

         23  unconstitutional.

         24                 And there also is the problem about

         25  individual, unless you join in a program like the
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          2  Campaign Finance Program, where in return for

          3  getting public money you agree to limit your

          4  expenditures.  I am glad you indicated you wanted me

          5  to do more there.

          6                 Also, you have the problem of the

          7  wealthy, single individual who might choose to spend

          8  their own money.  And I think you would at least

          9  have to have a very careful look from lawyers on

         10  whether it is constitutional to limit how much money

         11  you spend.  I know a fair amount about that subject,

         12  but I think you would be wise to consult some

         13  lawyers more formally on it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I appreciate

         15  what you are suggesting, in terms of the

         16  constitutional issues.  I am looking for the

         17  balance.  I am looking for, how do you get the level

         18  playing field when it comes to these referendum.

         19  But our experience has been that it is an unbalanced

         20  playing field.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ:  So, you are saying, you

         22  are saying, given the possibility of a person

         23  spending a truly enormous amount of money, are there

         24  ways to address that through some kind of public

         25  funding?  And you know, you might be able to write
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          2  something which is narrowly focused on that problem

          3  without opening up some of the other concerns that I

          4  expressed.  I think that is a legitimate issue for

          5  you to think about as you are doing.   But if you do

          6  it, I would suggest you would want to make your

          7  focus as narrow as possible.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  The next one

          9  has been introduced by Council Member Philip Reed.

         10  It is Intro. 279- A, a local law to amend the

         11  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         12  relation to providing for reasonable reimbursement

         13  to participants in the Campaign Finance Program for

         14  costs associated with post- election audits.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ:  So I am just going to

         16  make a brief comment to that, Councilman Reed, and

         17  everybody, and then my colleagues may have more to

         18  say about it.  First lets start out with the fact,

         19  audits can be frustrating.  I know one person was

         20  quite frustrated during audits, at least one person

         21  here was quite frustrated during the audit.  So, I

         22  am not singling out anybody, but I am just making

         23  that observation.  So audits can be frustrating.

         24  There is a provision, now, that candidates can use

         25  on expended public funds to pay for audits.  And I
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          2  do not know if that is in a rule, or a practice, or

          3  the statute, but I know that is the case.

          4                 MS. GORDON:  A rule.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ:  It is in a rule,

          6  apparently.  Here is what I see as a question about

          7  the proposal that there be an automatic

          8  reimbursement for audits.  It could serve,

          9  unintentionally, as a weakening of the incentives

         10  that are now built into the program to urge people

         11  to comply.  Because it could be, that if you know,

         12  or your treasurer knows that, lets say there is a

         13  question as to whether or not a certain expenditure

         14  is appropriate.  If the candidate or I think it is

         15  usually the treasurer who is really thinking through

         16  these things, who knows, okay, well look if I decide

         17  to make the expenditure or accept the contribution,

         18  and in my own mind I say well you know, there is an

         19  80 percent chance that what would be done is

         20  inappropriate, but a 20 percent chance that it is

         21  right, I think one would have to worry a little bit

         22  about whether having an automatic reimbursement for

         23  the cost of the audit, reduces the incentive on the

         24  treasurer or the candidate to be sure that they are

         25  complying.  So that is just a question that- -
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Go ahead,

          4  please.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I am not sure

          6  I, the use of the word incentive, you are talking

          7  about a stick, you are not talking about a carrot

          8  here.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I would say that that

         10  is a fair point that you are making.  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  An incentive

         12  means you are going to discount something, if we do

         13  it early, or you know I am going to get 13 donuts

         14  for the price of 12.  This is not an incentive, you

         15  are just not going to slap me around, if I just make

         16  my own decisions and try that trick on you.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I would not have used

         18  your expression slap you around, but I accept your

         19  expression stick instead of carrot.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  It would be

         21  hard pressed to take this outside and ask anybody if

         22  that was an incentive.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I accept your

         24  correction of my, it is a stick more than a carrot.

         25  And Nicole, what other thoughts do you have on this
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          2  one?

          3                 MS. GORDON:  Well actually I think

          4  the way to think about it, I think the problem that

          5  is attempting to be addressed here is that

          6  candidates do not want to be stuck at the end of the

          7  day, with extra expenses that they do not have.  If

          8  they had the funds originally, in their campaign

          9  that would have enabled them to pay for them, that

         10  they do not because of the timing of payback to the

         11  Board compared with the audit, et cetera.  And I

         12  think that solving that problem can be largely done

         13  through either the existing rule or maybe some

         14  additional thought given to that.

         15                 I think that the challenge about the

         16  draft of the legislation that is here right now, is

         17  that it reads as if, and I do not know if this was

         18  intended, it reads as if new money would be going

         19  out to candidates, possibly, whether or not, they

         20  had raised matching funds that would entitle them to

         21  public funds. So, I think the problem has to do with

         22  the timing and the amount of money that is in the

         23  campaign, and how it can be clear to candidates how

         24  they can either set aside some amount of money, or

         25  work on the timing a little bit, rather than going
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          2  the route that might mean that new public funds were

          3  being given out that might or might not,

          4  irrespective of how much the campaign had earned as

          5  it went along.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  In working with

          7  our Counsel, and I agree with you, Mr. Chair, we are

          8  saddened that he is moving on.  It would be nice if

          9  we could pay people around here what they are worth.

         10    But be that as it may, we were trying to find the

         11  language that would best address this issue.  So, as

         12  the prime sponsor of this, I am open to this

         13  discussion.  But you had earlier said that this

         14  whole, sort of, tension between elected officials,

         15  the Board, it is a constant sort of back and forth,

         16  and you would prefer us to legislate something

         17  before you make a rule.  Well in this case there are

         18  rules that we are going to have to legislate to

         19  react to some of those rules.

         20                 I have said, and you have now been

         21  the Chair, and I think doing a terrific job for some

         22  period of time.  But in my seven years on the

         23  Council I have said over, and over, and over, again

         24  that it is the candidates in the smaller offices,

         25  and the vast majority of those candidates are not
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          2  successful, who are being penalized repeatedly by

          3  the increasing number of rules and regulations.  The

          4  Campaign Finance Board in its history, that I know

          5  of, has never reduced the number of rules and

          6  regulations that anybody has to comply to.  They add

          7  on.  There is never a subtraction.  So it becomes

          8  more and more complicated.

          9                 And it is one thing to run for, even

         10  Borough President, or the Comptroller, or something

         11  like that, you have got this whole machinery

         12  working, and it is another thing for the vast

         13  majority of people who participate at the Campaign

         14  Finance Board who are doing this from their living

         15  room, or their dining room table, or their partner

         16  is trying to balance the books, or their friend, or

         17  if they have some wisdom and a few extra dollars

         18  maybe they will go out and get somebody.  But it is

         19  still overwhelming to do it.  And yet, you have a

         20  rule and regulation in place where you can require,

         21  insist, demand, that the account be balanced out

         22  closed.  Zeroed out.

         23                 And then you still have the authority

         24  to require that candidate to come and report to you

         25  on an audit, that sometimes can require them to

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  spend hours upon hours of work, as well the cost of

          3  reproduction.  And you do not ever have a cap on the

          4  amount of times you can ask somebody for a copy of a

          5  piece of paper, or the amount of times that you can

          6  insist that they come forward and present more

          7  information.  And it becomes costly and

          8  overwhelming, and if you have that authority to

          9  require people to comply, then I think as a

         10  government agency, it is your responsibility to give

         11  these people reasonable reimbursement for what it is

         12  that they are trying to do.

         13                 Now, if we need to sit down and

         14  figure out some language that makes it more

         15  workable.  I am not trying to give an exit, but you

         16  keep talking, particularly Ms. Gordon, about, I

         17  understand and appreciate that you need to protect

         18  the public fund, but we are not talking about

         19  millions of dollars here.  You know, so in your

         20  characterization of this it sounds like, you know,

         21  we are going to increase the deficit by some

         22  significant number by helping some poor schmuck that

         23  ran for the City Council, who you drag back and

         24  forth for a year- and- a- half through an audit

         25  process to be able to pay the Kinko bill.  That is
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          2  really what we are trying to address here.

          3                 And so I look forward to working with

          4  you to try and find a way to make that easier.

          5  Easier is the operative word, less punitive.  It is

          6  like, as you said, Mr. Chair, and I really do, I

          7  have enormous respect and affection for the manner

          8  in which you conduct yourself particularly in these

          9  issues of public discourse, which I think are

         10  extremely important.  And I think the Board has done

         11  an admirable job, but we are not making government

         12  simpler.  I have sat through seven years of this

         13  hearing, and I have yet to hear a hearing on the

         14  Campaign Finance Board that simplified things for

         15  people that were running for office.  And that is a

         16  distress, because over and over again, I think

         17  people are feeling less inclined to run for office

         18  because, you know, the money is tantalizing, but

         19  then they get in it and they realize I just cannot

         20  do this.  So, I do not think that that is what any

         21  of us here want to do.  So, I would be happy to work

         22  with you in resolving what is a small problem, but I

         23  think one that touches the heart of the issue of

         24  being supportive of people.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Just one observation.

          3  You know, sometimes I quote the letter that Thomas

          4  Jefferson wrote when he said, "There is a debate

          5  between my head and my heart."  When I am sitting

          6  there in the penalty hearings, there sometimes a

          7  debate between my head and my heart.  And you can

          8  see how the two go in different directions.  We do

          9  take into account the smallness of a campaign.  We

         10  do take into account the newness of a campaign.

         11  Those are factors that we do consider in setting

         12  penalties and sometimes cutting proposed penalties.

         13  That is not the same thing as addressing what you

         14  were talking about, which is the time and to some

         15  extent the money of observing.

         16                 So, I appreciate that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Can you address

         18  that to some extent.  If I may, I think Council

         19  member was very articulate in terms of trying to

         20  suggest that that this a significant problem for

         21  some candidates.  But in wanting to minimize the

         22  financial impact, the budgetary impact of it,

         23  because he did not see it as much.  Do you see any

         24  way in which that concern can be addressed?

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, I think the front
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          2  end is important.  I know we have a great handbook

          3  that does advise people of what the rules are.  And

          4  I have sat through the training system, and I think

          5  the training system is really quite good.  People

          6  come in and they are alerted to the problems.

          7                 I also know that that does not mean

          8  that everything is anticipated, in fact, and that

          9  there are particular small campaigns, you know,

         10  don't have the wherewithal or the support to go

         11  through all the hurdles, and go through them

         12  appropriately.

         13                 I don't know if there are ways to

         14  further simplify.  I mean, I can see helping at the

         15  front end.  I don't know if there are ways to

         16  further simplify.  We can take a look at that.  And

         17  Nicole, you mentioned also the rule and why don't

         18  you exactly say what the rule is because bear on the

         19  dialogue.

         20                 MS. GORDON:  And by the way I think

         21  this rule has been an improvement over the past

         22  system.  It use to be a very hardened fast rule, a

         23  law, a combination, that all public funds were due

         24  back to the Board by a date certain, and then the

         25  Campaign was really left high and dry.  That was
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          2  changed.  And the way the rules now work, is that

          3  before you repay your unspent campaign funds,

          4  whatever is in your bank account at the end of the

          5  day, the candidate may make post- election

          6  expenditures for routine matters that are nominal in

          7  cost, relating to the post election audit, including

          8  reasonable staff salaries and consultancy fees.

          9                 So I think the rule goes a very long

         10  way, and maybe in a further conversation we can take

         11  a close look at it and see whether it largely meets

         12  the needs, because this has been an area where there

         13  was a response by the Board to some of the concerns.

         14    Maybe it needs to be looked at to see if it fully

         15  responds.  But I think it went very, very far to try

         16  to deal both with the challenge that the candidate,

         17  which was in the old days all the money was due back

         18  before the audit was done and then you were really

         19  stuck on the one hand.  On the other hand, trying to

         20  phrase the language in a way that says look this is

         21  not suppose to be an opportunity to go off and

         22  whatever, it is suppose to be reasonable, nominal,

         23  other words that are meant to keep it to the kind of

         24  thing that you, Council Member Reed, were talking

         25  about in terms of copies or whatever staff salaries
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          2  required for that purpose, et cetera.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  My last comment

          4  on that is that the problem is that which you have

          5  discussed has changed and helped somewhat.  But

          6  often times, and I have experienced this just in the

          7  last week, frankly, there are outstanding bills from

          8  an election that is over a year old, that have been

          9  held up because we are not getting the remaining

         10  public funds that we feel entitled to.  And in the

         11  meantime, the amount of money that is there keeps

         12  being eaten away by the cost incurred to comply with

         13  an audit.  You know, if you owe $2,000, but you are

         14  expecting to get $2,200 back from the Campaign

         15  Finance Board once there is final, final, because

         16  final is not final in some worlds, but you get the

         17  final audit, and then low and behold it has cost you

         18  so much money to do that, you do not have the,

         19  because the Board has required you to continue to

         20  spend money to address their issues, otherwise you

         21  have to find a volunteer to do it. And that does not

         22  happen in the real world.  Now you do not have the

         23  money to pay the bills that you owe.  So, you have

         24  closed out the campaign.  You zeroed it out, and

         25  people still owe money. And you know, you still have
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          2  to raise money to pay the contractors or vendors, or

          3  whomever it is, that have waited a year and a half

          4  to get paid.

          5                 So, that is, you know, and I do not

          6  want to take up all of public's time around this

          7  issue because we have an awful lot of things to

          8  discuss, and we can dialogue.  But that is the crest

          9  of the problem.  It is a small problem.  But I think

         10  it is an important one to try and solve.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I recognize

         12  that Council Member Michael Nelson has joined us.

         13  And I am going to ask for you to comment on one

         14  other piece of legislation.  And that is Intro. No.

         15  467, the Mayor's bill in relation to the

         16  requirements of the Campaign Finance Board, where I

         17  think you, to some extent touched on it in your

         18  testimony, particularly with regard to regulating

         19  those who do business as opposed to regulating the

         20  candidates.  And also, wanting to make sure that the

         21  solution should reach contributions to all

         22  candidates, and not just the program participants.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ:  And, particularly

         24  important, Mr. Chairman, is should be for New York

         25  City, as it is in New Jersey, as it is in the
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          2  Securities Law, as it is in the model code, it

          3  should be one that reaches and effects the donor and

          4  not the candidate.  Because here we, on the Campaign

          5  Finance Board, are wholly on the side of the

          6  candidates because for the candidates to have to

          7  administer this, it means they would have to have a

          8  whole lot of knowledge that they do not have.  And

          9  that is why, all these laws, including the ones that

         10  the Mayor praises, regulate the donor, the person

         11  doing business, and not the person who receives the

         12  money.

         13                 Now, so that is the reason in the

         14  letter that I sent to you, we urged the Council not

         15  to accept the Mayor's bill, because it's done the

         16  bad way of trying to regulate the receipt of money

         17  by the candidate, and only be candidates who are in

         18  the program.  But it would be a great step forward

         19  if this Council would wrestle with the problem as,

         20  believe it or not, New Jersey has done in front of

         21  New York.  So, we are meant to be the leaders, and

         22  we should be the leaders.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Is there

         24  anything that we can do to improve this law so that

         25  we can stay in the lead?  Have you looked at the New
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          2  Jersey Law for any other improvements that perhaps

          3  we should take into consideration?

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well I would have to

          5  spend a week to come up with one.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay, well if

          7  you will, we would appreciate it.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I mean we are ready,

          9  willing, and able to work with you if you want to

         10  proceed with legislation. If the Council decides it

         11  does not, we have an obligation under that charter

         12  thing to look something and then probably come up

         13  with some rule which will not be the right way to do

         14  it.  And then you will be back in the situation, as

         15  I was saying, this is before you came Councilman

         16  Nelson, where if we came out with a rule and it can

         17  only affect the candidates, and it can only affect

         18  people in the Campaign Finance Program, you are

         19  immediately going to say, well that is not the right

         20  way to proceed.  And then you will be doing, in a

         21  reactive mode, what I am hoping the Council says

         22  they want to do in a positive proactive mode now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Again, Intro.

         24  No. 496, which we call the Local Law to amend

         25  administrative code of the City of New York in
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          2  relation to composition of the Voter Assistance

          3  Commission, the VACTO.

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I do not really have a

          5  comment on it, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  And last

          7  is the Preconsidered Intro. That is the law to amend

          8  the Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          9  relation to creating orderly and responsible time

         10  frames in paths of communication between the

         11  Campaign Finance Board and the candidates that

         12  participate in the system.

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ:  So, maybe Councilman,

         14  you could give me a little more on that.  This is on

         15  the deadlines on audits?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Yes.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Okay, well I would say

         18  good objective, not good requirement.  Good

         19  objective because audits should be done as quickly

         20  as possible.  And the current rule, which was

         21  enacted in response to Council concerns, put as an

         22  objective that draft audits have to be done within a

         23  year.

         24                 So, the spirit of what is being done

         25  here, is right.  And we know that getting audits
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          2  done faster is good.  Now I am pleased to say that

          3  enormous progress has been made.  And for 2003,

          4  nearly all draft audits, and the overwhelming

          5  majority of final audits are going to be complete by

          6  next month.  And that is a great improvement over

          7  some earlier years.  Now to be honest it was a

          8  little easier in 2003 than 2001, because there were

          9  fewer races, or fewer participants in 2003 than

         10  there were in 2001.

         11                 But if you make that a requirement,

         12  it seems to me, that Sir, serve neither the public

         13  interest, nor the candidates interests.

         14                 Let me start with the candidates

         15  interest.  I think if it is a requirement to be done

         16  in a year, you would find that the Board staff doing

         17  the audits would be less willing to grant

         18  adjournments when candidates say, you know, you have

         19  given me "X" period of time.  And the candidate says

         20  I need "X" plus two weeks.  If you know that there

         21  is a one year deadline, the Board staff doing the

         22  audits is going to be less willing to say, yes I

         23  approve your extension.  So, I think a rigid rule

         24  would not be in the interest of the candidates.

         25                 And I think it would not be in the
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          2  public interest because there are occasional, let me

          3  take the really extreme example, this comes up, a

          4  very few, but it does come up.  There are some

          5  instances where it looks as if there is actual

          6  criminal conduct that has occurred.  You know, there

          7  was one very surprising given the reputation of the

          8  person, but there was one instance where a

          9  particular person running for City office was found

         10  guilty of criminal conduct.  And there are very

         11  occasional instances where we have to refer a matter

         12  to a district attorney. And they have to look at it,

         13  and if you had a one year requirement it would get

         14  in the way of that process.

         15                 But apart from the very unusual

         16  potentially criminal matter, there are other truly

         17  difficult questions in audits, where if you have a

         18  rigid requirement, you are not going to serve the

         19  public interest by having a guillotine come down

         20  after one year.

         21                 Now as part of your oversight, Mr.

         22  Chairman, you could, I am sort of now suggesting

         23  something to you, to ask us which gives us

         24  additional work.  But frankly, I think it is a

         25  responsible request.  You could ask the Board to
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          2  regularly provide to you a report at the end of

          3  year, the end of the year after an election, that

          4  says we have had the following number of candidates

          5  that were involved, and the draft audits are

          6  finished on "X" percent, and the final audits are

          7  finished on "Y" percent. And the power of your

          8  oversight is one of the, and of demanding facts, and

          9  unlike perhaps other agencies in the government that

         10  try to resist that, I am suggesting that you make a

         11  request regularly to us to provide such data to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         13  much.  That is a good request, and we will follow up

         14  with that.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I am sure my colleagues

         16  and the rest of the City government are going to be

         17  admiring me for having done that, and urging that

         18  they do the same.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Well they will

         20  appreciate it, I am sure.  Let me turn to Council

         21  Member Leroy Comrie who has some questions and

         22  concerns he wants to raise.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair, good morning.  Just to start with where

         25  you ended.  How many audit extensions were allowed
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          2  by the Board per the 2001, or lets start with your

          3  most recent the 2003 campaigns?

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ:  So, I cannot answer

          5  that.  Can you Nicole?

          6                 MS. GORDON:  I do not know an answer,

          7  and it is something that we could try to collect,

          8  although it would not be easy.  But I will tell you

          9  that it is absolutely routine that the staff always

         10  grants a first request essentially without any

         11  questions asked.  And that after that it, obviously,

         12  can depend on the circumstances.  And there are

         13  instances when the staff will ask that the Campaign

         14  address its request to the Board, if multiple

         15  extensions have already been granted at the staff

         16  level, and it is felt that the staff has exhausted

         17  its prerogatives. And then the campaign will address

         18  its request to the Board.  And I have to say, I am

         19  not even aware of a time where an extension was not

         20  granted.  So the answer is a lot.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Are you

         22  talking about a first extension or any extension?

         23  Have there been incidents, because you are kind of

         24  bundling your answer?   Are you saying that every

         25  extension requested by a candidate is normally
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          2  given, even if it is a second or third extension?

          3                 MS. GORDON:  I would have to check

          4  the record.  I have to just tell you, though,

          5  speaking out of the experience of it, I cannot think

          6  of a time, or if they are any they are very isolated

          7  and we deal with hundreds of campaigns, and hundreds

          8  of request for extension, it would be

          9  extraordinarily rare for a campaign not to get an

         10  extension of time.  And the first time I know

         11  absolutely for sure it has never been declined.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay. Do you

         13  have an estimation on how many outstanding audits

         14  are still open from 2001?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Can you answer that

         16  Amy?

         17                 MS. LOPRESS:  From 2001?

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ:  From 2001.

         19                 MS. LOPRESS:  Yes.  At the end of the

         20  year, so there are some on for the Board meeting, to

         21  be considered at the Board meeting that will be held

         22  in December- -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You need to

         24  identify yourself for the record.

         25                 MS. LOPRESS:  I am sorry.  I am Amy
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          2  Lopress (phonetic), Director of Campaign Finance

          3  Administration.  At the end of the year there should

          4  be about seven.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Seven

          6  outstanding audits.

          7                 MS. LOPRESS:  Yes.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Out of?

          9                 MS. LOPRESS:  Out of the 280.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Out of 280

         11  originally. And can you give us an idea on why those

         12  seven are still outstanding?

         13                 MS. LOPRESS:  I think that since

         14  audit matters are private until they become public

         15  before the Board, I would choose- -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Have there

         17  been hearings with the seven candidates before the

         18  Board, regarding why these audits are still

         19  outstanding?

         20                 MS. LOPRESS:  I mean we are working

         21  on them.  We are going back and forth with the

         22  candidates.  Yes, Sir.  I mean, a hearing, I do not,

         23  I think the candidates are aware that we have gone

         24  back and forth, ask for information.  I think

         25  because until they are public, before the Board I
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          2  cannot comment on them.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Have fines

          4  been posted against these people?

          5                 MS. LOPRESS:  No that will be done by

          6  the Board when the final audit is issued.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So, no fines

          8  have been posted against, no public record has been

          9  posted against these seven people that are still in

         10  the outstanding audit phase.

         11                 MS. LOPRESS:  Yes, because they are

         12  still in the outstanding audit phase.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay. So, how

         14  many fines were posted against people in the 2001

         15  campaign?

         16                 MS. GORDON:  We would have to

         17  research that.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ:  That would be an

         19  interesting, I would be interested in that too.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ:  When you said 280, Amy.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  280

         23  candidates.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Were there 280

         25  candidates, all together, or, what is the number
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          2  280?

          3                 MS. LOPRESS:  That is the number of

          4  people that were audited.  And that includes 280

          5  draft audits, 280 final audits.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  So

          7  that is 280 people that got to the point where they

          8  needed to be audited in the 2001 campaign.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I think on that, I

         10  think everybody is audited.

         11                 MS. LOPRESS:  Right.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ:  It is sort of, an

         13  appropriate, automatic.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So even if

         15  you drop out early you are still audited?  Then out

         16  of that 280 you have, because Councilman Reed and I

         17  were curious to know how many of those 280 people

         18  actually ran until the end of the year.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Or until the primary.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:   Until the

         21  primary.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Can you make an

         23  estimate of that Amy?

         24                 MS. LOPRESS:  I think that all of

         25  those 280 people were on the ballot, for at least
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          2  the primary.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  I just

          4  want to start, and when you were talking about the

          5  audit, and the response to Council Member Reed's

          6  bill, and to Council Member Monserrate's bill, you

          7  talked about the fact that the Board is an

          8  investigative body and not an adjudicative body,

          9  that your hearings are informal and not formal

         10  Administrative procedures. Could you give us

         11  enlightenment on what your normal procedures are

         12  from the time that you notify a candidate of an

         13  issue, when the hearing is, and how is the matter

         14  resolved?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Okay.  Let me start and

         16  then my colleagues jump in.  The candidate gets

         17  notified.  The Board does not get involved until

         18  after the draft audit has gone out, and after the

         19  notice of recommended penalty.  Up to that point, it

         20  is entirely between the candidate and the staff of

         21  the Board.  And a high percentage, a substantially

         22  high percentage of the matters get resolved before

         23  anything comes to the Board.  Then the Board will

         24  receive information on recommended penalties for

         25  those matters that have not been resolved before the
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          2  matter comes before the Board.

          3                 About, I would say, about half of

          4  those we are told that the candidate has chosen not

          5  to contest the recommended penalty.  So, that leaves

          6  a roughly half of the things that are then before

          7  the Board.  The Board is informed by the staff about

          8  its position.  And then at the hearing, we have an

          9  opportunity for the candidate or the candidate's

         10  representative to come forward and make their

         11  arguments.

         12                 Now since you were before the Board,

         13  actually we have changed our procedure slightly.

         14  When you were there, one of the lawyers for the

         15  Board would stand up and sort of act as if they were

         16  making the case.  And then either the candidate, or

         17  the treasurer, or the candidate's lawyer would stand

         18  up and make the opposite argument.  We have changed

         19  it in a way that may be symbolic, but I think is

         20  desirable.  No longer are the staff lawyers standing

         21  up and making a presentation.  And in fact, they are

         22  sitting down and they sometimes do not talk, and we

         23  sometimes just start with the arguments, the factual

         24  or legal arguments of the candidate, or the

         25  candidate's representative.
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          2                 Then that occurs, and as you know I

          3  think in your case, which was an interesting one,

          4  perhaps interesting is not the best word, but it was

          5  a complex one.  There may be more than one round of

          6  presentations, and sometimes we invite subsequent

          7  presentations to be made.  Then the Board

          8  deliberates, and we decide on what the appropriate

          9  action will be.  Sometimes it is innovative in a

         10  sense, I mean in your case, we concluded that the

         11  actual initial claim for a penalty was not correct.

         12  And we rejected the initial claim, but we found sort

         13  of a subsidiary matter much smaller in dollar amount

         14  than the original proposed penalty had been.  And

         15  imposed a penalty because, not the candidate, and

         16  the candidates are, I want to make a clear point,

         17  the candidates are of course responsible.  But in

         18  that particular matter it was the treasurer who had

         19  not, we thought, adequately complied, so than we

         20  resolved the matter.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right, right,

         22  right.  Let me give a codicil before we get into

         23  specifics of a complex specific issue that still

         24  does not, you still really have not extolled how the

         25  decision is made now.  So, if you are saying that
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          2  you changed the process, then we can talk about what

          3  the process is now.

          4                 My concern is not about my specific

          5  situation.  I am here representing pretty much all

          6  of the minority candidates, and insurgents that have

          7  been involved in this race, that have come to me,

          8  that have spoken to the Council, to the Black and

          9  Hispanic Caucus, to different members about just

         10  their inability to get through the Campaign Finance.

         11

         12                 Again, as you know, I believe in the

         13  Campaign Finance Program.  I think it is a necessary

         14  program.  And it is a program that I believe in, but

         15  as Councilman Reed has said, this process has only

         16  gotten more complicated, more difficult to maneuver,

         17  and part of our oversight regulation is to try to

         18  make it easier, even for people that are insurgents

         19  in smaller campaigns.

         20                 Just to give you some information,

         21  based on the average assessment that was done, when

         22  we look at the significant difference in the ease of

         23  transactions for candidates in lower income

         24  neighborhoods verses their counterparts in more

         25  fluent communities, there was an average of 34
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          2  percent more of their funds were in conflict in the

          3  lower income communities, lower income council

          4  districts than in higher council districts.  It

          5  averaged that in all of the minority council

          6  districts there was more conflicts, there was less

          7  opportunity for training, there was only a three

          8  hour training session given in 2001 to candidates to

          9  deal with a 270- page manual, back then.  I do not

         10  know how many pages it is now, you have not said,

         11  exactly.  But you said it is pretty comprehensive,

         12  so I am going to assume it is more than 270- pages

         13  this time.

         14                 I am concerned about:

         15                 1.  The transparency of the Campaign

         16  Finance Board, because if the Board's decisions, and

         17  rules, and regulations are not transparent, it makes

         18  it even more difficult for people that are in a

         19  complicated situation, normally using volunteers, or

         20  assistance, or people that are trying to help them

         21  to achieve something that they have not done before.

         22    It just becomes impossible for them to understand

         23  it.  It becomes a source of frustration.  Often

         24  times it becomes a major impotent in them being able

         25  to schedule their campaigns, and able to finance
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          2  their campaigns, and able to run their campaigns.

          3                 We need to make sure that Campaign

          4  Finance is not an impediment, but an enhancement to

          5  people trying to run public campaigns.  That has

          6  always been my focus.  It is not about me. And while

          7  I understand you may have a need to constantly talk

          8  about me in the singular, I am not dealing with me

          9  in the singular.  My situation is more unique,

         10  because as you know, the person that handles my

         11  finances has been involved with Campaign Finance

         12  since before it got started.

         13                 You know, and there is another issue,

         14  that we will address at a later point, on how

         15  Campaign Finance deals with people that is able to

         16  tell them what they are doing wrong. Which I think

         17  is another endemic problem that has to be dealt

         18  with.  The response of bureaucracy when they are

         19  being told that they are wrong, has been horrible,

         20  in my opinion, on a system wide basis from Campaign

         21  Finance.  And that there has been some specific

         22  rulings that has only shown that, it is like, if you

         23  catch me here, I am going to get back at you three

         24  different ways.   And I think that is a horrible

         25  response to people who are trying to do the best
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          2  that they can to advocate for their position.  I

          3  think it is a horrible way that these things come up

          4  in closed- door sessions, as opposed to open

          5  meetings.  I think that if we want Campaign Finance

          6  to be an open entity for all people, then the

          7  conduct of the staff and the Board have to be open.

          8  The meetings, why the cloaked it as informal

          9  hearings, and fact finding, I think that those

         10  meetings, while they should not be adversarial, and

         11  they are not judicial proceedings, are being

         12  conducted in that way.  And it only lends a cloak of

         13  confidentiality, a cloak of suspicion for people

         14  that are in the midst of trying to run for public

         15  office and find themselves in a quagmire of

         16  Administrative morass that they can never get out

         17  of.

         18                 So, that is my focus.  And, you know,

         19  I should have started out from there, because, you

         20  know, I want the Campaign Finance to work.  I want

         21  anyone that wants to get involved in running for

         22  public office because they feel a need to serve this

         23  city, to have the most open path to do that.  But to

         24  say that and, you know, and I am torn because they

         25  are dealing with the Housing Codes next door that I
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          2  need to be involved with, the Education Committee is

          3  dealing with oversight, this is the area that is

          4  most critical to us, though, here, because we are

          5  dealing with an upcoming election cycle, where we

          6  want to hope that whomever in the City has a desire

          7  to run for public office has the easiest path to do

          8  so.

          9                 So, I go back to Councilman Reed's

         10  comment now, and with my opening statement, that I

         11  think that we need to find a way to make this easier

         12  and more transparent, and negotiable for people.  So

         13  in that regard I am going to go back to a new

         14  question.  How long is the training sessions planned

         15  for this year?

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, I do not know the

         17  answer to that.  If three- hour training is not

         18  sufficient, we should offer additional training.

         19                 MS. GORDON:  We offer, I am going to

         20  allow Amy Lopress to talk about this.  But one thing

         21  that, I do not know whether this filters back to the

         22  Council members, and it is a concern to me that it

         23  does not.  In addition to the candidate handbook,

         24  and in addition to the formal training that we

         25  invite all the campaigns to come to, we do a lot
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          2  more than that.  We sit one on one if necessary with

          3  campaigns for hours, and hours, and hours.  And I

          4  think it would be a true misconception of the amount

          5  of assistance that is available, to imagine that the

          6  one hour, or three- hour, or four- hour training

          7  session is the end of the story, especially since we

          8  are trying to balance here what people can manage

          9  and what they want for their campaigns.  Some

         10  campaigns want a longer period of time.  Some

         11  campaigns want a shorter period time.  Some

         12  sessions, we stay as long as the candidate's

         13  representatives want to stay in that room and answer

         14  questions.  We are available by telephone.

         15                 I think you would be very hard

         16  pressed to find another agency that provides as much

         17  assistance as we do to the campaigns.  I will

         18  certainly let Amy add what she might want to, to the

         19  length of the training sessions or the other

         20  assistance that is offered.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I understand

         22  that but, another major problem in both the 2001 and

         23  2003 campaigns is that even after that point when a

         24  campaign would come to CFB for a technical issue,

         25  they would often go and number one, have a problem
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          2  with accessibility.  Number two, they would talk to

          3  a liaison at CFB who assured them that to do this

          4  you have to do "x", "y", and "z".  Then they go

          5  back, when they do as instructed by a staff member,

          6  they only find out that that in filing was

          7  incorrect.  The CFB person did not give them

          8  anything in writing. And then they are told that

          9  some portion of their public financing is withhold

         10  as a result.

         11                 A lot of things that you interpret to

         12  candidates are unfortunately, done orally.  It is

         13  not put in writing and they cannot stand by it.

         14  There needs to be a better line of communication, a

         15  more succinct line of communication between CFB

         16  staff and candidates during every process.  And

         17  everything from CFB, Candidates Committee should not

         18  call CFB and get three different answers to the same

         19  situation.   And often times that has happened in

         20  the past two years.  And I have many candidates,

         21  many individuals that have come to me with that

         22  complaint.

         23                 And then finally, when it gets to the

         24  audit point, they are told that their public

         25  financing is going to be withheld because of
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          2  something that they thought was done correctly,

          3  based on the instruction from a CFB staff member,

          4  who did not put it in writing, only to find out

          5  later that when it is time for their monies to be

          6  released there was some problem and CFB said it

          7  should not have been done that way, it should have

          8  been done this way.  And I have too many reports

          9  from too many different people saying that exact

         10  problem.

         11                 So I am suggesting that there has to

         12  be some clearer methodology to answer those myriad

         13  of complaints that you are going to get.  Because I

         14  agree with you, some campaigns may not want to sit

         15  for the three hours.  They may not want to sit for

         16  ten hours, even when they are sitting in a specific

         17  meeting with you to try and understand this, they

         18  are not getting it.  It is complex, as you said

         19  earlier.  It is technical.  But if they are getting

         20  crossed information and there is a level of change

         21  inherent in a lot of this, then the consistency of

         22  CFB has to be paramount.  And the ability to convey

         23  information to candidates in a concise way has to be

         24  consistent.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ:  You know, Councilman,
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          2  you are speaking on behalf of a whole bunch of

          3  people that have spoken to you, and raise important

          4  questions.  And I wonder, I mean this would sort of

          5  be an unusual thing to do, but, if we might be able

          6  to sit down with you, and if you wanted to bring a

          7  couple of other people, fine, but in sort of a

          8  working session.  Because your objectives that you

          9  have voiced and ours are the same objectives.  And

         10  sometimes, if one concentrates on a problem in just

         11  an informal way, there are, you know, sort of- -

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I intend to

         13  make sure that Councilman Perkins follows up on

         14  that, you know, and initiative to do an informal

         15  meeting.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I think that,

         18  you know, one hand, having the formal hearings, and

         19  having the opportunity to have real discourse will

         20  create a lot of solutions also.  I am willing to do

         21  informal hearings.   I am willing to meetings at the

         22  Women's City Club or the City Law Center, or

         23  whatever, as all the other topic issues are in the

         24  City are discussed by informal groups.  You know, we

         25  get requests from NYU to attend hearings on
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          2  different things.  So, clearly there needs to be a

          3  lot of public discourse on it.

          4                 But to just be brief, because I have

          5  a lot of concerns and about making just everything

          6  stronger and clearer. And I appreciate your

          7  response, and your desire to make sure that

          8  everything is open and above board, so that we can

          9  make sure that Campaign Finance stays strong and

         10  viable to small participants.           So, you

         11  know, in that regard I will not nitpick about all of

         12  the other issues, only because I want to get next to

         13  the other hearing, which is important too.  I would

         14  take that under advisement, if there has to be more

         15  than one informal meeting in order to do that, but

         16  there are a lot of people that have been disaffected

         17  and unable to operate campaigns because of their

         18  problems with Campaign Finance.  And I think that

         19  takes away from the spirit of the whole program, and

         20  the ability- - I want to thank them for the

         21  applause, also.  You know, and the ability of this

         22  City, which I think this is the greatest city of the

         23  world, to embrace people that are willing to serve

         24  in public service.  I think that anybody that wants

         25  to be involved in public service should be given
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          2  every opportunity to have the maximum effort given

          3  to them to make that effort.  I clearly believe that

          4  our city is a city that needs to be given the full

          5  diaspora of opinion in order for it to grow in a

          6  positive way.

          7                 But in that regard, I just wanted to

          8  ask one or two other questions, if I can, Mr. Chair.

          9    In the beginning, you talked about, and I am just

         10  going to share this with you, the issue of public

         11  funds payments and noncompetitive races, was an

         12  issue that was veted out, just so that you know,

         13  every delegation meeting.  We had hearings on it.

         14  We talked to members about it. The members main

         15  concerns were, not necessarily whether a race was

         16  competitive or not competitive, but the timing of

         17  public fund payments, and how you can run a race if

         18  you do not know, a member brought up a fact that an

         19  insurgent alluded to the Campaign Finance, alluded

         20  to everyone that they had the money to be totally

         21  competitive.  It was not until August 15th that

         22  people realized that he did not come up with the

         23  money.   How does a candidate, whether it is an

         24  incumbent or an insurgent, deal with that, and plan

         25  a campaign, necessarily get the proper materials to
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          2  run a full campaign, if they cannot understand or

          3  have a real opportunity to know if a person is going

          4  to be competitive or not, if the deadline is August

          5  15th, and you have the second Tuesday in September

          6  primary?  It makes it almost impossible to plan and

          7  organize an effective campaign.

          8                 So, that is really where our concerns

          9  were, and just the ability to understand, how do you

         10  understand if a person is competitive?  You really

         11  do not know as an individual one way or another,

         12  until there is a practical deadline.  There were

         13  suggestions made that we try to maybe move up that

         14  deadline from August to an earlier date to

         15  understand whether a person is competitive or not

         16  competitive.  Those are some suggestions made.     But

         17  there was clearly, because you kind of alluded in

         18  your testimony, we just threw that out, but I have

         19  to assure you that there was a lot of discussion

         20  about that, a lot of heated debate about that.  In

         21  fact, the Chair was kind of on your side in the

         22  discussions to try and eliminate, you know, the

         23  noncompetitive issues.  But people are concerned

         24  about, you know, how do you really ascertain what is

         25  a competitive person verses what is a noncompetitive

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  person.  Name recognition goes a long way to a lot

          3  times.  You know, people can run a race with just

          4  name recognition in a local campaign, even in a

          5  city- wide campaign.  So there are a lot of issues

          6  around that that I would like to be able to talk

          7  about in more depth.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well that is extremely

          9  helpful for you to say to us.  And I think we ought

         10  to put our mind to the comments that you made there.

         11    But probably there were other issues raised in

         12  those discussions among the Council people.  And the

         13  more that you all can share with us about what the

         14  concerns expressed were, the more we can try to see

         15  if we can be responsive to those concerns.

         16                 And Mr. Chairman, if you, I mean that

         17  might be something also where an informal discussion

         18  would be a useful thing to do.  Because I know it is

         19  in everybody's interest to find a way to solve that

         20  issue.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Well, Mr.

         22  Chair, I want to thank you for, you have given me

         23  five informal meetings, and a few reports that you

         24  want me.  Council Member Reed has some questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I have got
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          2  one more question.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You still got

          4  more.  Okay.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I am sorry.

          6  Just one more.  I was deeply concerned about the

          7  Board's decision to promulgate a rule regarding how

          8  union contributions, and LLCs are dealt with.  I

          9  wanted to try to understand why the Board decided to

         10  promulgate that rule after we had Council hearings

         11  on it, and decided not to adopt that issue?

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well the Board has not

         13  promulgated a rule.  The Board put out a rule for

         14  comment.   And we have received the comments.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ:  And the Board will have

         17  to consider what to do about those comments.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But I am

         19  concerned that the Board can even put out the

         20  request for comment on an issue that we thought that

         21  we resolved here, and decided not to move forward

         22  on.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well I am not quite

         24  sure, Councilman, what you are referring to there.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  The comments
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          2  regarding, or the questions that you are putting out

          3  regarding union contributions, and what constitutes

          4  a union verses a,- - right.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Where the issue is

          6  whether to aggregate a subunion with another union?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ:  A father and a

          9  daughter, or a father and a son unions.  I may be

         10  ignorant here, but what action did the City Council

         11  take on that subject?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  We did not

         13  take,  I thought it was my understanding, I guess I

         14  am in trouble here. But I thought it was my

         15  understanding that we would not take that up.  That

         16  was a piece of your original proposed legislative

         17  fixes.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Not so.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  That we did

         20  not take.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ:  No, we did propose.  I

         22  can see how that would be confused, because we did

         23  propose that you say, just as with corporations

         24  there not be any entity, including unions that make

         25  contributions and that you rejected (A).  And (B) we

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  could not possibly do that by a rule anyway.  So,

          3  you are right, the Council rejected our proposal

          4  that there be no union contributions.

          5                 This is really an issue under an

          6  existing part of the law and an existing rule.

          7  Whether you aggregate the contribution by union A

          8  and union B together.  Because they are part of a

          9  larger entity.

         10                 And on corporations before the law

         11  was changed to eliminate any corporate

         12  contributions, and this is pre me, but I have been

         13  informed about it.  The Board applied a rule that

         14  aggregated a contribution between a corporation and

         15  a subsidiary. And that was said to be, you have got

         16  to look at those together in determining whether the

         17  entity, looked at in the larger sense, has made a

         18  contribution over the limit.   And so what this

         19  proposed rule does, is to apply that same logic to

         20  unions.  So, it is not inconsistent, I believe, with

         21  the Council's decision not to ban union

         22  contributions.

         23                 The second thing, and the Board has

         24  not promulgated anything we just put out a rule for

         25  comment.  The second thing, Councilman, is that in
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          2  some of the testimony where people commented

          3  adversely to the proposed rule, they seem to think

          4  that it was an automatic joining of the parent union

          5  and the subsidiary union.  I am sure that I am not

          6  using the exact, proper expression.  But that it was

          7  automatic, where that is not the case.  The proposed

          8  rule is that there be a presumption of relationship

          9  between the umbrella head and the subsidiary unions.

         10                 Another thing that might be somewhat

         11  reassuring is that our proposed rule is modeled

         12  after the Federal Elections Commission's rule.  But

         13  it is less, it is less of a requirement than the

         14  Federal.  The Federal Elections Commission provides

         15  that there automatically, is a joining together of

         16  the parent union and the subsidiary union.  Whereas

         17  ours just says that there presumption, our proposed

         18  rule just says there is a presumption that they are

         19  together, but that does not mean that it happens

         20  automatically.

         21                 Now, I would not be honest if I did

         22  not, we have not yet decided.  I have not read all

         23  of the things that I think I should read, but I

         24  would not be honest with you if I did not say that

         25  based on what I have read so far, I think the rule
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          2  is a reasonable rule.  But, as I said, I have not

          3  read everything I should read, and the Board has not

          4  deliberated on it.  But I think it would not be fair

          5  to you, for me to start out by saying the Board has

          6  not acted yet, because we have not, and not tell you

          7  that my mind thinks that this is probably a fair

          8  thing to do.             COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:

          9  Okay.  Well, again I think that this is a back

         10  doorway to try to develop a rule based on a request

         11  that you have made, that we decided not to legislate

         12  on. And I have a real issue about your authority and

         13  ability to do that.  Clearly, this was something

         14  that was discussed in your initial request when you

         15  wanted to change and improve the legislation for

         16  2005 cycle. My understanding is that it was

         17  discussed between Counsel and yourself, and decided

         18  that we would not proceed.  And now, a couple of

         19  months later we are putting out for public comment a

         20  secondary version, or an amended version of this

         21  just to do the same.

         22                 I think that, I am in disagreement

         23  with you on what is a parent and what is an

         24  umbrella, what is a subsidiary and what is not.  New

         25  York has a very distinct history in independence of
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          2  their unions.  And the parent is more of an

          3  Administrative body, not of an oversight body, of an

          4  individual union's practices and policies, for

          5  instance.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Councilman, if I

          7  personally thought that this was a back doorway

          8  accomplishing the broader objectives, I would

          9  completely oppose the rule.  But I do not think it

         10  is a back doorway.

         11                 The second thing, in the very last

         12  comment that you made about New York's sort of labor

         13  traditions.  This is only a proposed rule is only a

         14  presumption.  And it may be that to recognize, and I

         15  am telling you that we have not talked about it

         16  among the Board.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right, I am

         18  throwing, right.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ:  I am just speaking

         20  honestly in my own sort of thinking about it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But I am

         22  trying to get to the matter at both Boards, so that

         23  is what I'm worried about.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ:  And I am just one of

         25  five members of the Board, too.  It may be that we
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          2  know, now a little more than we did when we

          3  promulgated the rule about what the internal rules

          4  are of the New York City Labor Coalitions.  And some

          5  of them seem to have rules that say the subsidiary

          6  union cannot endorse somebody without the permission

          7  of the parent union.   And in that circumstance it

          8  seems to me, it is really fair to say you should

          9  think of them as a single entity.

         10                 Now, if others have rules that say,

         11  the subsidiary union is free, completely without

         12  seeking the permission of the parent union to

         13  endorse someone, or to give money to them, then it

         14  may be that we would want to have a little bit of

         15  legislative history about what the word presumption

         16  means, and says it may depend on what kind of rules

         17  the umbrella union has for how its subsidiaries can

         18  act.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, my

         20  Chair is telling me we have move on.  I wanted to

         21  ask your opinion on the LLC piece, but that will

         22  have to be a discussion for another point in time,

         23  unless you are here when I come back.  But I am

         24  going to have run now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We will be here
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          2  until 1:00, however, this may be another meeting for

          3  an informal discussion.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I appreciate

          5  your feedback.  I just want to add a codicil to the

          6  informal discussion thing.  Due to the Public

          7  Meetings Law, nothing can be private these meetings

          8  have to be public.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  He did not say

         10  private, he said informal.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, now Council

         12  Member Reed and then Council Member Nelson, I would

         13  appreciate it if you could be expeditious so that we

         14  can move on.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you

         16  Council member and Mr. Chair.  On the issue of

         17  referendum, this is something that I have been

         18  looking at since when Councilman Perkins and I first

         19  came into office.  And I do think it is an important

         20  piece to look at.  Just comments on some of the

         21  remarks, I think that were made by Ms. Gordon.

         22                 It is complicated to try to figure

         23  out who is the, perhaps, may look to be complicated

         24  to figure out who is the authorized other side of an

         25  issue.  Sometimes it is clearer who initiated it,
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          2  but that could be masked as well.

          3                 I would suggest that we look at all

          4  of things in a similar pattern as we do Citywide

          5  candidates.  You, the Board, nor I, can decide who

          6  has the legitimate opposition to someone. If you run

          7  and you qualify, you get public funds.  And so,

          8  establishing thresholds for organizations, however

          9  many may want to take a position, yea or nay, I

         10  think is the only way that the Board has legitimacy

         11  in establishing who it is that should be getting

         12  Campaign Finance.  So, if you have the number of

         13  petitions, which is an issue that you have to have

         14  to get on the ballot.  And if you say you have to

         15  have raised "X" number of dollars from "Y" number of

         16  people, which is what you tell us now, you may want

         17  to raise that number.  And I guess, in the

         18  petitioning process, or referendum, I cannot

         19  remember Council member, but can you challenge the

         20  petitions, as well, in terms of who signed the

         21  petition first.

         22                 So, it is the same process.  So, I

         23  would just, you know, speak clearly to the fact that

         24  that should not be an impediment, legitimacy is

         25  based on thresholds.  It is that simple.  And I do
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          2  think it is an important piece to put together. I am

          3  just doing an informal run through my head of the

          4  history of referendum, and I think only a handful of

          5  them have succeeded, of course the one that we are

          6  both aware of, because the term limit is one,

          7  Council Member Perkins and I are running up on that

          8  one pretty good.  But the Mayor tried to bully us

          9  last year with a couple of his referendum, and sunk

         10  his money into it, $15 million I think it was.  And

         11  it did not work.

         12                 So, it is not just about the money.

         13  But nevertheless, I do think that it is only fair to

         14  the public, of course, if we were able to, as we

         15  should be doing at the federal level, get the public

         16  air waves to give equal status to people and not

         17  have the majority of monies going out to the

         18  newspapers, and to media.  Which leaves the public

         19  media that we control ought to be able to say, here

         20  is the counter- force to that by here is free time.

         21  That ought to be an obligation.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         24  Nelson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Hello.  I
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          2  want to compliment you on not only be reactive,

          3  being proactive, and trying to come across as

          4  something that makes sense, as obviously difficult

          5  as that may be.  We did not fully exhaust all of the

          6  topics, but we want to be home for, let's say

          7  Nightline tonight, so I will not go on too long.

          8                 I would follow some to let your heart

          9  not be troubled rule, as far as the noncompetitive

         10  elections.  Because I see that you mentioned, used

         11  the expression, bitterly disappointed.  And I can

         12  understand from a vantage point where that might be

         13  the case.  But some of us feel it may be too

         14  subjective in that.  I mean you can get somebody

         15  running on a lark, you know, John whatever his name

         16  is, on a Lark party.  And it might be obvious that

         17  he just wants to get his name in the newspapers, or

         18  say I was a contender.

         19                 But, I use this as the Gene

         20  Russianoff rule, you may remember.  You get Gene

         21  Russianoff and he does live in my district.  But he

         22  runs on the he is on your side party, which we see

         23  bandied about a lot.  Or the Reverend Corey, you

         24  know, a vote for me is a vote for the Lord party.

         25  And he has helped thousands of people in his
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          2  community, and he is very popular. That is the

          3  problem.  That really gets to the center of, I

          4  think, of the whole question.  And whose to chose

          5  and what is the barometer used to choose.

          6                 Council Member Comrie did address the

          7  issue, I thought I would be the only one who went

          8  into that area.  But he did just touch upon it to a

          9  certain degree.  So, I wanted to just bring that up

         10  so you can put that into formulation.  And as we

         11  have the, whether it is informal or formal

         12  discussions, whatever it is, to have that in the

         13  back of your mind as well, how it could be a

         14  problem.  And to somebody to make or a group even to

         15  say, that is not a problem, we should not have it

         16  that way, in the broader dimension of things.   So I

         17  just wanted to bring that up.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ:  You know, Councilman,

         19  one's perspective is a little whether one's looking

         20  forward or backward.  And you are talking, and

         21  Councilman Comrie was talking about the dilemma of

         22  looking forward and not being quite sure whether

         23  there is this person who has great renown, but no

         24  money. Looking backward, it is clear that it creates

         25  a bad impression to have people who are getting
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          2  these large amounts of money, winning 90 percent of

          3  the vote.  And in that sense, when you look

          4  backward, it is something that really threatens the

          5  public support for the program.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  There is no

          7  doubt.  That is where the balance is.  I do not know

          8  if it is Jeffersonian, hard to the head, or what,

          9  but sure it is like life itself.  It could be a

         10  complex issue as simple as it appears to be.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well, thank

         13  you, Mr. Schwarz.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you again

         15  for your testimony.  Let me just ask you one last

         16  question with regard to Intro. 388, did you get a

         17  chance- -

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Which one?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: - - Intro. 388,

         20  the local law to amend the Administrative Code in

         21  relation to including candidates for Justice of the

         22  Supreme Court, Surrogate's Court, or Civil Court in

         23  the voluntary Campaign Finance Program.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Yes on the judges.

         25  There are two things, here my advice to you would be
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          2  to wait.  There are two things going on that I think

          3  are relevant.  One is the Feerick Commission, which

          4  was appointed by Judge Kaye, and that is looking at

          5  the election of judges, and has some ideas about

          6  financing.  The other is a lawsuit, which I happen

          7  to be Lead Counsel in the Federal Court in Brooklyn,

          8  which challenges the constitutionality of the way

          9  Supreme Court judges nominated.  I am saying that in

         10  effect the public is excluded.  Both of those are

         11  going to be resolved pretty soon.

         12                 My own gut would be that,

         13  particularly, for Supreme Court Justices, where the

         14  reality is there is seldom a real contest.  In fact,

         15  almost never in New York City is there a genuine

         16  contest for who is going to get elected to the

         17  Supreme Court under the current system.  So, I think

         18  for Supreme Court Justices, unless the system is

         19  changed, you could not justify public funds.

         20                 Surrogate races and civil court

         21  races, you know, I think it is more something that

         22  should be debated.   If you could have a program

         23  where there was a carrot and stick, to pick up the

         24  dialogue that Councilman Reed and I had, where in

         25  return for some public funding the amount of money
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          2  that was going to spent could be substantially

          3  limited.  That might be a good development.

          4                 But I do think you would want to see

          5  how the Feerick Commission, what they are going to

          6  be doing when they finish.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  When is that?

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ:  They came out with a

          9  preliminary report and your Council can get it.  It

         10  is named for John Feerick the former Dean of Fordham

         11  Law School.  But definitely, for Supreme Court

         12  judges there are not any contests.  The legitimate

         13  contests, the people are nominated in the judicial

         14  conventions, which you have occasionally been a

         15  delegate to.  I have seen your name on the list.

         16  And then, in New York City the Democrats always win,

         17  and Upstate the Republicans always win.  So, you

         18  could not justify right under the current system

         19  putting money into Supreme Court graces.  You could

         20  focus on it with civil court and surrogates court.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         22  much.  I appreciate, again, your testimony and the

         23  good work that you are doing.  We will be in touch

         24  in with your office to set up these informal public-

         25   -
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Informal public

          3  hearing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: - - public

          5  meetings, public discussions.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ:  Yes, okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Now we are

          8  going to hear from Special Counsel to the Mayor,

          9  Anthony Crowell.  We will also ask Jane Kalmus from

         10  Voter Assistance Commission and Jeffrey Kraus.

         11                 MR. KRAUS:  Yes.

         12                 MR. TOLLIN:  Good morning.  Could you

         13  each raise your right hand?  If you are going to

         14  testify, could you raise your right hand?  Do you

         15  solemnly swear or affirm the testimony that you are

         16  about to give is the truth, the whole, and nothing

         17  but the truth?

         18                 MR. KRAUSE:  I do.

         19                 MS. KALMUS:  I do.

         20                 MR. CROWELL:  I do.

         21                 MR. TOLLIN:  Thank you.  Could you

         22  before testifying give your name and who you are

         23  affiliated with.

         24                 MR. CROWELL:  Okay.  My name is

         25  Anthony Crowell. I am Special Counsel to Mayor
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          2  Michael Bloomberg.

          3                 Good morning Chairman Perkins and

          4  members of the Government Operations Committee.  My

          5  name is Anthony Crowell and I am Special Counsel to

          6  Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg.  I thank you for the

          7  opportunity to testify this morning on Intro. 467.

          8                 On November 3, 1998, a Citywide

          9  referendum asked voters whether New York City's

         10  voluntary Campaign Finance Program should include

         11  disclosure and regulation of campaign contributions

         12  from those who do business with the City.   The

         13  referendum passed easily, winning support from 60

         14  percent of voters.  Here is the relevant language

         15  that was adopted into the Charter, and which remains

         16  there today:

         17                  "The Campaign Finance Board shall

         18  require that candidates participating in the

         19  voluntary system of Campaign Finance Reform, or who

         20  otherwise file disclosure reports with the Board,

         21  shall disclose to the Board the acceptance of

         22  campaign contributions from individuals and entities

         23  doing business with the City.  The Board shall also

         24  promulgate such rules as it deems necessary to

         25  regulate the acceptance by candidates participating
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          2  in the voluntary system of Campaign Finance Reform

          3  of contributions from individuals and entities doing

          4  business with the City."

          5                 Attached to my testimony is the

          6  complete language of the amendment.

          7                 The amendment directed the Campaign

          8  Finance Board to publish rules implementing this

          9  reform no later than December 31, 1999, and adopt

         10  them "as soon as practicable thereafter." But here

         11  we are, six years later, and no rules have been

         12  adopted. Why not?  The CFB, when it appeared before

         13  you earlier spoke about administrative difficulties

         14  that they say, excused their inaction.  Essentially,

         15  the Campaign Finance Board has settled on a

         16  preferred approach to the issue, creating a

         17  perfectly comprehensive database, and at the same

         18  time deemed that approach, impractical.  Rather than

         19  working through their difficulties or taking another

         20  approach, they have allowed their definition of the

         21  perfect to become the enemy of the good.   The

         22  result is six years of bureaucratic paralysis.

         23                 Now, since the CFB has defied the

         24  expressed will of the voters and shirk its mandated

         25  responsibilities, it is time to do by legislation
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          2  that what the CFB has refused to do by rule. New

          3  York City's voters passed a mandate.  Like it or

          4  not, it is the law, and the City is duty- bound to

          5  implement it.  Accordingly, the Bloomberg

          6  Administration calls on the City Council to

          7  effectuate the will of the voters by passing Intro.

          8  467.

          9                 Now let me take a step back and speak

         10  about the importance of this Charter mandate.  The

         11  primary reason that the Campaign Finance Program was

         12  adopted 15 years ago was to reduce corruption and

         13  diminish the sway that special interests hold over

         14  candidates and elected officials who seek campaign

         15  contributions from them.   Yet today, the City's

         16  matching funds program enhances the value of

         17  contributions from special interests by matching

         18  them at a 4- to- 1 rate.

         19                 New Yorkers might reasonably ask why

         20  they should have to pay $1,000 every time a lobbyist

         21  or a developer donates $250.  Is subsidizing

         22  contributions from lobbyists consistent with the

         23  intent of the program?  No, it is an unintended

         24  consequence that undermines the program and socks it

         25  to the taxpayer.
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          2                 Since candidates receive generous

          3  public subsidies, New Yorkers might also reasonably

          4  ask why such candidates are permitted to receive

          5  large contributions from individuals and entities

          6  that have business before them, such as executives

          7  of telecommunications companies who are seeking

          8  lucrative contract terms; or real estate developers

          9  who are seeking land use approval; or private equity

         10  executives who seek a share of the City's $85

         11  billion pension system.  And each time these sources

         12  give big contributions, the taxpayers are forced to

         13  kick in $1,000.

         14                 New Yorkers also might reasonably

         15  ask:  Don't these contributions present a conflict

         16  of interest for elected officials?  Don't they

         17  create at least the possibility for inappropriate

         18  influence?  Undoubtedly, these are the kinds of

         19  questions that led voters to pass the referendum in

         20  1998.

         21                 When those who do business with the

         22  City make campaign contributions to gain access and

         23  influence, it is called "pay- to- play."  At a

         24  minimum, this practice can create the appearance of

         25  impropriety.  And beneath those appearances lies a
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          2  potential to corrupt government decisions.

          3  Eliminating the corrosive potential of pay- to- play

          4  will strengthen the integrity of government, protect

          5  taxpayers from being forced to subsidize special

          6  interests, and it will bolster public confidence in

          7  government, principles that both the Administration

          8  and the Council must rally around.

          9                 Now, implementing the 1998 Charter

         10  mandate will also protect elected officials from

         11  feeling pressured to act in the favor of

         12  contributors doing business with the City, and from

         13  being accused of acting in their favor, instead of

         14  in the broad interests of their entire constituency.

         15

         16                 The wisdom of New York City's voters

         17  has been confirmed by recent campaign finance

         18  scandals in New Jersey and Connecticut.  About two

         19  months ago, Governor McGreevey, freed from the need

         20  to raise campaign contributions, issued an executive

         21  order prohibiting government contractors from making

         22  campaign contribution.  In his statement that

         23  accompanied his Executive Order, Governor McGreevey

         24  laid out the reasons why we should act quickly:

         25                  "Today, the relationship between
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          2  political fundraising and government operations has

          3  become corrosive and cancerous.  Legitimate lines of

          4  behavior are blurred, ethical ambiguities are the

          5  normal and the need to sustain an all consuming

          6  fundraising effort has become almost as important as

          7  the function of government itself.  The wall, the

          8  separation, between politics and government, between

          9  campaign finance and government operations, between

         10  state interest and personal interest has

         11  disintegrated.  Today it has become increasingly

         12  challenging to distinguish between the world of

         13  political fundraising and government, and between

         14  what we do and why we do it.   It has become a self-

         15  sustaining system with no beginning and no end."

         16                 McGreevey closed by challenging his

         17  fellow elected officials:  "To my colleagues in

         18  government, I know that this may cause consternation

         19  and anger.  Change can be uncomfortable.  The goal

         20  is to liberate those who seek to serve to do so

         21  unfettered by these possible conflicts and it will

         22  reassure the people we serve that we do so honestly

         23  and decently."

         24                 Unfortunately, the Mayor of New York

         25  City does not have the same legal authority granted

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  to the Governor of New Jersey to issue such an

          3  Executive Order because New York State's election

          4  and procurement laws do not allow him to do so.

          5  Although a change in state law might allow for such

          6  a Mayoral Executive Order, most people would agree

          7  that we have waited long enough, and waiting for

          8  Albany to take action, when quicker and better

          9  solutions are available to us locally, would indeed

         10  be foolish.

         11                 I should also point out that New

         12  Jersey's approach, that of barring contractors from

         13  making contributions, rather than candidates from

         14  accepting them, is contrary to the Charter amendment

         15  adopted by the voters.  The plain language, again,

         16  reads:  "The Board shall require that candidates

         17  participating in the voluntary Campaign Finance

         18  Program, shall disclose to the Board the acceptance

         19  of campaign contributions from individual and

         20  entities doing business with the City."

         21                 Now, let me outline the key elements

         22  of the legislation we have proposed to fulfill this

         23  Charter mandate. The law would prohibit candidates

         24  in the program from accepting contributions from

         25  those who do business with the City, with an
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          2  important exception:  Contributors with business

          3  before the City could still give up to $250 to any

          4  candidate for whom they are eligible to vote, but

          5  these contributions would not be matched with public

          6  dollars.  This approach is modeled on the Securities

          7  and Exchange Commission's G- 37 rule, which

          8  prohibits municipal bond underwriters from

          9  contributing to candidates, but also provides for a

         10  $250 exception when the contributor is eligible to

         11  vote for the candidate.  This ensures that even

         12  those who have business with the City may

         13  financially support candidates who seek to represent

         14  them.

         15                 The current law requires candidates

         16  in the Campaign Finance Program to ask contributors

         17  for numerous pieces of information, including

         18  information about their workplace.  Our proposal

         19  simply takes this disclosure a step further, by

         20  requiring candidates to ask contributors whether

         21  they have had business dealings with the City within

         22  the last twelve months. The definition of the term

         23   "business dealings" includes contractors,

         24  lobbyists, pension investors, developers who seek

         25  land use approval, and firms who seek franchises and
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          2  concessions from the City.  Now, this definition, as

          3  with all proposed legislation, obviously requires

          4  fine- tuning to ensure that it is not overly broad

          5  or filled with loopholes.

          6                 For instance, homeowners who seek

          7  approvals from the Department of Buildings should

          8  not be covered by the law.  The Administration is

          9  anxious to work with the Council to arrive at an

         10  appropriate definition of doing business.

         11                 Our proposed law also provides for

         12  exemptions. All entities with contracts valued at

         13  $100,000, and all contractors who went through a

         14  competitive sealed bidding process, would be exempt

         15  from the law.  We believe that these exemptions,

         16  coupled with the G- 37 model, set a reasonable

         17  definition of "doing business."  While we believe

         18  that this is a very good definition of entities that

         19  should be exempt from the law, again, we are anxious

         20  to work with the Council to arrive at consensus.

         21                 The law would also direct City

         22  agencies to provide appropriate assistance to the

         23  Campaign Finance Board in determining whether an

         24  individual or entity does business with the City.

         25                 The Bloomberg Administration is fully
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          2  committed to providing support to the CFB in

          3  collecting information, and that includes our

          4  commitment to coordinate databases of known entities

          5  that do business with the City.  But the Board's

          6  singular insistence on a pre- established database

          7  that includes every individual who does business

          8  with the City is an administrative ideal that, while

          9  worth pursuing, should not hold hostage a mandate

         10  from the voters.

         11                 Now, the CFB believes that without an

         12  all encompassing database, enforcement will be

         13  difficult.  In fact, there is very good reason to

         14  believe that the law will be highly enforceable

         15  because of the numerous parties who hold a serious

         16  interest in the issue.  And I will list them for

         17  there: The contributors, the candidates, the

         18  opponents, the press, and the Campaign Finance

         19  Board, itself.

         20                 First, the Contributor.  Now, we can

         21  all agree the vast majority of people follow the

         22  law; Campaign contributors are no different.   When

         23  this law goes into effect, the vast majority of

         24  contributors can be expected to abide by it.  In

         25  fact, there is no doubt that many of those who do
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          2  business with the City will be grateful for being

          3  relieved of the obligations they may feel to make

          4  campaign contributions.

          5                 The Candidates.  Candidates do not

          6  like to be known for breaking Campaign Finance laws,

          7  and they do not like the penalties that accompany

          8  such violations.  As a result, they will be careful

          9  to do their due diligence on this issue, just as

         10  they do when they ask for employer information.

         11                 The Opponent.  Candidates have a

         12  habit of scouring their opponents' Campaign Finance

         13  disclosure statements.  It is doubtful that many

         14  contributions from those who do business with the

         15  City will escape their notice.  And candidates have

         16  an interest in documenting their discoveries, as

         17  they do now when they file complaints with the

         18  Campaign Finance Board.

         19                 The Press.  The press, like

         20  candidates themselves, also have a habit of

         21  scrutinizing campaign finance records and providing

         22  documenting evidence.

         23                 And finally, the Campaign Finance

         24  Board.  If any "pay- to- play" contributions escape

         25  the CFB's own rigorous auditing procedures, which
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          2  would be aided by information provided by other City

          3  agencies, they are likely to be brought to its

          4  attention by the parties listed above.  When that

          5  occurs, the CFB has a number of options available:

          6  It can review its available lists and databases,

          7  including databases of registered lobbyists, VENDEX,

          8  et cetera, and it can request documentation from the

          9  candidate, and it can contact the individual or

         10  entity in question, as it does now with

         11  contributions from questionable sources, such as

         12  those that may be from corporations.

         13                 I should note that the Board has

         14  always conducted various types of investigations

         15  into potential violations with only piecemeal

         16  information.  This includes investigations into

         17  corporate contributions, affiliated contributions,

         18  intermediated or "bundled" contributions, and

         19  missing or fraudulent employer data.  Between the

         20  vigilance of the Board and the scrutiny of other

         21  interested parties, it is very likely that this

         22  proposed law would eliminate the vast majority of

         23  pay- to- play contributions.  The few that are made

         24  are likely to be identified, one way or another.  We

         25  believe the absence of an all- encompassing database
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          2  is an overblown administrative concern that must not

          3  be accepted as an excused for inaction.

          4                 Over its 15 years, the Board's mantra

          5  has been that reform must be viewed as an

          6  evolutionary process, albeit work in progress.

          7  That the Board has refused to apply this way of

          8  thinking toward the implementation of the 1998

          9  Charter mandate has been frustrating and

         10  disappointing.  The CFB has made its definition of

         11  the perfect, the enemy of the good, and in doing so,

         12  it has placed its own judgment above the expressed

         13  will of the voters.

         14                 That is simply unacceptable.

         15  Citizens should feel confident that their vote in a

         16  referendum counts and that the outcome won't be

         17  ignored by government officials.  Over the last few

         18  years, there has been a great deal of discussion on

         19  the importance of making sure that every vote

         20  counts.  Voters should know that whether they cast

         21  ballots for President, Mayor, City Council member,

         22  or in a referendum, their votes will count. Ignoring

         23  the voters' verdict will only increase their

         24  cynicism, especially when they have specifically

         25  demanded more integrity from government, as is the
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          2  case here.

          3                 In addition, taxpayers should feel

          4  confident that public funds are not merely

          5  subsidizing and magnifying the worst aspects of the

          6  pay- to- play system.

          7                 For all these reasons, the Bloomberg

          8  Administration urges the City Council to work with

          9  it to adopt Intro. 467 in an expeditious fashion.

         10                 Since this issue has been languishing

         11  for six years, and since this is the first City

         12  Council hearing on it, I look forward to taking your

         13  questions on this subject.  To allow for a full

         14  discussion, and in light of the seriousness of this

         15  issue, I will restrict my comments to Intro. 467

         16  only.  If you have any questions about the other

         17  bills on the Committee's agenda today, the

         18  Administration would be pleased to respond in

         19  writing.

         20                 Thank you, and I would be happy to

         21  take questions on Intro. 467.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you,

         23  next.  Please state your name.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Good afternoon.

         25    I am Commissioner Jane Kalmus, Vice- Chairman of
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          2  the Voter Assistance Commission.  And I am pleased

          3  to appear before the New York City Council Committee

          4  to amend the composition of the Voter Assistance

          5  Commission.  This is indeed a red letter day for us,

          6  Chairman Bill Perkins, and I am pleased to appear

          7  before you in support of the needed legislation

          8  designed to restructuring the Voter Assistance

          9  Commission.

         10                 In 1989 the Charter Revision

         11  Commission created the VAC to implement programs

         12  encouraging citizens to register and vote.  Since

         13  then, as you know, the Commission has had a

         14  complicated history.  It has been disrespected by

         15  several administrations.  It is under funded, and

         16  given its mandate and what recent history has proven

         17  is an urgent need to support all New York City's

         18  citizens right to vote, it has also been

         19  underutilized.  To both these points I would like to

         20  remind the Council that not until August of 2004 has

         21  the agency had an Executive Director to handle even

         22  the day- to- day responsibilities of the agency.

         23                 And in that regard I am pleased to

         24  have sitting beside me, Onita Coward Mayers who was

         25  appointed to the position on August 2nd, thanks to
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          2  the good work of Anthony Crowell, who represents the

          3  Mayor on the Voter Assistance Commission.

          4                 Passage of Intro. 496 restructures

          5  the Voter Assistance Commission and is an essential

          6  first step in strengthening the Commission.  The

          7  programs that it administers will have a better

          8  chance of success with a more non- partisan

          9  structure and control, that is not solely dependent

         10  on an incumbent Mayor and that office's party

         11  affiliations.  These factors have seriously impeded

         12  the agency in the past.

         13                 With this restructuring I urge the

         14  Council to also consider, perhaps at a future date,

         15  allocation of adequate funds necessary to hire staff

         16  beyond the current two positions:

         17                 To develop Pro Voter guidelines.

         18                 To properly implement and enforce the

         19  Pro Voter Law.  These details as you know are

         20  included in Intro. 608.

         21                 To establish annual training programs

         22  for employees of participating Pro Voter City

         23  agencies and to work with the Presidents of each of

         24  the five boroughs in the training of the Community

         25  Board members and staff within their jurisdiction.
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          2                 Now, the recent passage of the

          3  Federal "Help America Vote Act," has changed how New

          4  Yorkers vote, dramatically.   There is still need

          5  for a major education campaign directed at newly

          6  registered voters.  It is essential that the Voter

          7  Assistance Commission be able to identify and secure

          8  the necessary funding available from the New York

          9  State Assembly and Senate appropriations.

         10                 With your endorsement, the Voter

         11  Assistance Commission must mount a major effort to

         12  convince the legislature that an independent

         13  Commission has the expertise to conduct and maintain

         14  New York City's ongoing Voter Registration Rights

         15  Campaign through a dramatic web site, and

         16  information distribution system as the only, truly,

         17  non- partisan entity mandated by the City Charter to

         18  do so.

         19                 The changes outlined in Intro. 496

         20  are much needed and overdue.  We express great

         21  gratitude to you, Chairman Bill Perkins, and to Matt

         22  Tollin, and the entire Government Operations

         23  Committee for taking the time and the interest to

         24  correct what is the single most important aspect of

         25  being a registered New York voter, the right to cast
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          2  your vote and know that it will be counted.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. KRAUS:  Good afternoon.  My name

          5  is Jeffrey Kraus, and I am the Chair of the New York

          6  City Voter Assistance Commission, known as VAC.  I

          7  am here today to provide you with some background on

          8  the Commission, and to provide you with my own views

          9  on Intro. No. 496 and Intro. No. 1, the legislation

         10  the Council has proposed that respectively would

         11  affect VAC's composition, and would affect the

         12  ongoing implementation of Local Law 29 of 2000.

         13                 VAC was created through a revision of

         14  the New York City Charter in 1988 to encourage and

         15  facilitate voter registration and participation.

         16  VAC is currently composed of 16 commissioners; three

         17  appointed by the Mayor, and six by the Council.

         18  Seven are ex- officio, representing the Public

         19  Advocate, the Deputy Mayor for Legal Affairs, the

         20  Executive Director of the New York City Board of

         21  Elections, the Director of the Office of Management

         22  and Budget, the Chair of the Campaign Finance Board,

         23  the Corporation Counsel, and the Chancellor of

         24  Education.  VAC's full- time Executive Director,

         25  nominated by the Mayor and approved by the
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          2  Commission, manages the Commission's day- to- day

          3  operations.  Among its functions, VAC monitors

          4  compliance with Local Law 29, which requires a

          5  number of City agencies which are not covered by the

          6  National Voter Registration Act to provide voter

          7  registration materials to persons who seek services.

          8                 Intro. 496 reduces the number of

          9  members on VAC from 16 to seven.  The Council would

         10  get four members:  It would appoint three members

         11  and, the Public Advocate, who is also a member of

         12  the Council, would sit ex- officio.  The Mayor would

         13  appoint three members, and all of them would be

         14  subject to advice and consent of the Council.  No

         15  two members appointed by the Council, or by the

         16  Mayor, could be a resident of the same borough.  A

         17  chair would be selected by the Commission from among

         18  the appointed members.

         19                 It is my understanding that any

         20  change to restructure the Commission's composition,

         21  including the change the Council proposes today,

         22  would require a voter referendum.  As you know, the

         23  Charter Revision Commission reviewed this issue last

         24  year and proposed a restructuring on the 2003

         25  ballot.  I plan on providing the new Charter
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          2  Revision Commission, the only body in the City with

          3  current legal authority to proposed a change to

          4  restructure VAC, with a proposal for consideration

          5  and placement on the ballot next fall, similar to

          6  the one I proposed last year.

          7                 The proposal I support, which is

          8  based largely on the structure of the Campaign

          9  Finance Board, would, as you propose, eliminate all

         10  ex- officio members and reduce the number of members

         11  from 16 to seven.  I agree that three members should

         12  be appointed by the City Council Speaker, and three

         13  members should be appointed by the Mayor.

         14                 I would further propose, however,

         15  that, like the Campaign Finance Board, the Chair

         16  should be appointed by the Mayor in consultation

         17  with, or subject to the advice and consent of the

         18  Council.  All members should serve a staggered five

         19  year term and no two members appointed either by the

         20  Council Speaker or the Mayor should be from the same

         21  borough.

         22                 And, finally, neither the Mayor, nor

         23  the Speaker, should be permitted to appoint more

         24  than one person from the same political party, with

         25  the exception of the Chair.
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          2                 I look forward to speaking with the

          3  Charter Revision Commission members on this

          4  important matter, and I hope that you will be

          5  willing to work with them as well.

          6                 Regarding Intro. No. 1.  Intro. No. 1

          7  would require Local Law 29 covered agencies to

          8  provide verbal assistance in the completion of voter

          9  registration forms by persons seeking City services.

         10    It would also provide for collection of those

         11  forms.

         12                 Last year, the Council held a hearing

         13  on a bill similar to this bill in which the

         14  Administration testified and raised some very

         15  serious concerns.  Although it appears that the

         16  Council has tried to address some of these concerns,

         17  the bill unfortunately does not provide a solution.

         18                 In general, agencies covered by Local

         19  Law 29 have not provided verbal assistance relating

         20  to, or collected and transmitted, voter registration

         21  forms, other than to refer questions to the Board of

         22  Elections' help line.

         23                 In my opinion, and as the

         24  Administration has previously pointed out, with

         25  reasoning which bears repeating, a proposal for
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          2  verbal assistance may lead to potentially inaccurate

          3  information or improper advice being given to

          4  potential registrants by a wide range of City

          5  employees.  It may also result in intentional or

          6  negligent mishandling of voter registration forms

          7  that can otherwise be easily mailed directly by

          8  agency clients to the Board of Elections.  Most

          9  importantly, mandating verbal assistance and form

         10  collection could run afoul of a generalized concern

         11  to ensure that all aliens be given access to City

         12  services without fear of negative consequences from

         13  disclosure of their immigrant status.

         14                 As you well know, that policy's

         15  concern was formalized in the Citywide Privacy

         16  Policy found in Executive Order 41, signed by Mayor

         17  Bloomberg last year.  E.O. 41 was drafted as a

         18  result of extensive discussions and cooperation

         19  between the Mayor and the City Council.  It

         20  prohibits generally City employees both from

         21  inquiring about a person's immigration status,

         22  unless it is required by law or necessary to

         23  determine program, service, or benefit eligibility,

         24  and from disclosing confidential information,

         25  including immigration status, contained in City
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          2  records.

          3                 An individual wishing to register to

          4  vote must disclose his/her immigration status in

          5  order to submit a complete voter registration form.

          6  By its terms, the threshold question on the voter

          7  registration form distributed by the City's Board of

          8  Elections, and thus by all Local Law 29 covered

          9  agencies, reads as follows:  "Are you a U.S.

         10  Citizen?"  Next to the question are two boxes

         11  requesting the applicant either to check "Yes" or

         12   "No". The question states further, in bold capital

         13  letters, "IF NO, DO NOT COMPLETE THIS FORM."

         14                 It would seem that any program of

         15  verbal assistance and collection relating to voter

         16  registration forms would have to be predicated on a

         17  threshold inquiry about an applicant's immigration

         18  status by a City employee.  This would be in direct

         19  contravention for E.O. 41 and does not occur under

         20  the current system of distribution.

         21                 Under the current system, an

         22  individual requesting an application for City

         23  services is distributed a voter registration form to

         24  complete, or discard, at their discretion and in

         25  privacy.  If an individual wants to register to
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          2  vote, but discovers that he/she is ineligible to do

          3  so because of immigration status, he/she can discard

          4  it discreetly and in private.  No City employee ever

          5  asks the individual about their immigration status;

          6  nor does the individual ever raise any suspicions at

          7  the agency as without why he/she may have declined

          8  to complete and submit the registration form.

          9                 Indeed, a mandatory verbal assistance

         10  and collection program would necessarily create an

         11  environment where virtually every person who walked

         12  into a City agency could potentially be asked to

         13  disclose, in fact or in effect, his/her immigration

         14  status, regardless of whether disclosure of

         15  immigration status was required by law or necessary

         16  to determine eligibility for the underlying program,

         17  service, benefit, or other assistance that initially

         18  brought the individual into the agency.

         19                 It should also be noted that if an

         20  alien felt compelled to register to vote by

         21  misrepresenting him- or her- self as a U.S. Citizen

         22  on the form, so as not to reveal actual immigration

         23  status to agency personnel providing verbal

         24  assistance, he/she could later be denied U.S.

         25  Citizenship because federal law prohibits voter
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          2  registration by an alien and establishes it as a

          3  ground for such denial and removal from the United

          4  States.

          5                 Accordingly, the Administration

          6  pointed out last year, a verbal assistance and form

          7  collection scheme would effectively compromise the

          8  safeguards provided for in E.O. 41. For the

          9  foregoing reasons, I disagree with this proposal.

         10                 In addition, I understand that the

         11  Administration has previously raised concerns that

         12  the assistance provisions of Intro. 1 raise certain

         13  operational and legal concerns, including fiscal

         14  impacts and possible curtailments of Mayoral

         15  authority, that I hope would be addressed.  I refer

         16  you to the earlier testimony of the Administration

         17  on these points.

         18                 I would be happy to answer any

         19  questions.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         21  much for your testimony.  I want to call your

         22  attention to, Mr. Crowell, to your, the first page

         23  of your testimony, in which you quote the Charter

         24  provision, and as the basis upon which you feel your

         25  argument holds water.  But I notice that that
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          2  provision includes a phrase that goes like, "the

          3  Board shall also promulgate such rules as it deems

          4  necessary to regulate the acceptance by candidates

          5  participating in the voluntary system of Campaign

          6  Finance Reform,"  and so forth.  So it leaves it up

          7  to the discretion of the Board.  It did not say that

          8  the Board must do this, it says the Board must make

          9  a determination that is necessary.  And it seems

         10  that Commissioner Schwarz, earlier, pointed out that

         11  it was problematic for them to be able to do that on

         12  the basis of the records that are needed, and the

         13  inappropriateness for them to do regulations.  How

         14  do you respond to that?

         15                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, I think there is

         16  a couple of ways to respond to that.  The first is,

         17  if you look at the ballot question, itself, it makes

         18  it explicitly clear what the voter was voting for,

         19  in that there would be a regulation.  It says,

         20   "requiring the disclosure and regulation of

         21  contributions by those doing business with the City

         22  of New York, and regulation of indirect

         23  expenditures."  So, that is what the ballot question

         24  is. So, when a voter would have gone into the ballot

         25  box to have cast their vote, that was what they
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          2  believed they were voting for.

          3                 And also, in terms of legislative

          4  drafting, I think the phrase, "such rules as it

          5  deems necessary," means that while they are being

          6  required to promulgate rules concerning disclosure,

          7  they are given discretion in what those rules

          8  actually look like, not whether or not, they could

          9  choose that they just not obey the will of the

         10  voters.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Now as I

         12  recall, they have had some specific concerns about

         13  how this could be done, particularly, with regard to

         14  needing the records, and looking at the New Jersey

         15  experience pointing out that it was not the

         16  candidate, but it was the corporations that were

         17  regulated.  So, they seem to see some area of

         18  compatibility with doing it using more of a model

         19  like New Jersey, as opposed to what you are

         20  suggesting in your legislation.

         21                 MR. CROWELL:  Right.  I heard their

         22  testimony. The New Jersey model certainly has a lot

         23  of appeal. Unfortunately, the State's Election and

         24  Procurement Laws do not allow for an Executive Order

         25  from the Mayor to call for the same thing where the
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          2  requirement is put on the contractor or the person

          3  doing business with the City.  And so, that is the

          4  first thing.  So, we have a legal hurdle to

          5  overcome.

          6                 The second thing is that we have an

          7  expressed mandate by the voters that says that the

          8  candidate shall disclose.  So those things taken

          9  together, you know, there is a purely legal answer

         10  for it, that one we have a mandate to have the

         11  candidates disclose, and two even if we wanted to

         12  have the person doing business with the City

         13  disclose, they could not because of State law

         14  concerns.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, we cannot

         16  legislate that they disclose this information, as we

         17  have in other instances through the VENDEX process

         18  in other instances?

         19                 MR. CROWELL:  No, we cannot, no.  The

         20  only thing that we can do is require the disclosure

         21  by the candidate.  State law would basically preempt

         22  any other scheme.  And that is why we are pursuing

         23  this approach.  Although, you know, you could go for

         24  a State law change, but that is obviously, a hurdle

         25  we should not have to go through, because (A) it
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          2  would violate the expressed will of the voters, and

          3  two, it would take time when we really should be

          4  focusing on getting at the problem to avoid any

          5  potential corruption in government integrity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So I am clear.

          7  You do not think the VENDEX process is an

          8  opportunity for this type of disclosure?

          9                 MR. CROWELL:  The VENDEX process is a

         10  different kind of process.  The VENDEX process is

         11  one that is a background investigation on people who

         12  are looking to do business with the City.  It is not

         13  in the campaign arena.  And so that is why I am

         14  saying that State election laws prohibit this kind

         15  of thing in a Campaign Finance regulatory system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Recognizing the

         17  difficulty of getting laws passed on the State

         18  level, has the Mayor made any proposal at all to the

         19  Governor or anybody on the State level?

         20                 MR. CROWELL:  It is the Mayor's

         21  position that the 1998 referendum, which was

         22  overwhelmingly passed by the electorate of this

         23  city, wanted the candidates to make the disclosure,

         24  so that is why we are pursuing it.  I am not saying

         25  that that idea is not something that does not have

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  appeal.  But the idea is that we have legal concerns

          3  as to how we can do it at the local level.  We see

          4  no reason not to do it at the local level.  And

          5  quite honestly, we have a mandate from the voters to

          6  do it at the local level.

          7                 I must add, about you know, some of

          8  their concerns raised about the database.  I think

          9  that the Administration believes it work effectively

         10  with the Council and the Campaign Finance Board to

         11  ensure coordination of databases, but that the lack

         12  of a comprehensive database right now, is not

         13  something that should stay in the way.  Indeed, the

         14  Campaign Finance Board has a large investigative

         15  staff.  They have been indeed, outsourced through a

         16  significant contract, through an auditing agency

         17  that helps in these investigations in doing audits.

         18  And also, right now, they do their investigations

         19  with piecemeal information. And, I think we can all

         20  say, they do it quite well.  So, I think that,

         21  unfortunately, the lack of a database is an issue

         22  that has been somewhat of a red herring, but I think

         23  that we can actually implement an effective system

         24  and work towards the best database possible as the

         25  program unfolds.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, but you are

          3  in agreement that the control should be on the

          4  contractors not the candidates?              MR.

          5  CROWELL:  No, no.  I am in agreement that we should

          6  implement the mandate that the voters put on the

          7  City in 1998.  That is the Administration's

          8  position.  And as I said there are state law

          9  concerns, and because we have a mandate from the

         10  voters that we should effectuate the role of the

         11  voters, and respect the role of the voters in doing

         12  so.   It is incumbent upon us to do that and that is

         13  what the Mayor's approach to this is.  And, we see

         14  it as the proper approach.  The resources are there.

         15    The structure to actually collect the information

         16  is there.  And I think that candidates, it is not

         17  burdensome on the candidates to be very mindful of

         18  who they are taking contributions from.  They

         19  already do it now when they ask employer

         20  information.  And I think it is an appropriate step

         21  because we have a mandate from the voters to

         22  implement what was passed in that referendum.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         24  Reed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.  I have, I do not know, several questions

          3  about this.  But before we get into the issue of

          4  people doing business with the City, I just want to

          5  comment that Mr. Kraus, generally I agree with what

          6  your testimony is.  I do think that, you know, we

          7  cherish the right to have a vote, but we also, you

          8  know, people have the right not to vote.  And we are

          9  rushing forward here to snatch people and

         10  practically insist that they fill out a form.  And I

         11  think that the issue that you raised, about this

         12  form. You have the ability, here in this agency, not

         13  every single person should be required to have to

         14  present themselves as expert on this.  But every

         15  agency ought to say if you are interested in filling

         16  out this form and having this, there is somebody we

         17  can turn you to right now, to help you fill that

         18  out.  I mean that might alleviate the problem.

         19                 And then, you are absolutely right

         20  about this issue that on there it states, in two

         21  places, I never quite understood why you had to

         22  state twice, that you are a citizen. So, I do think

         23  that there are a lot issues that you raised that are

         24  significant in our trying to help people to vote.

         25  But you know, we have to, there is a fine line
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          2  between helping and coercing.  And I think we have

          3  to be careful not to cross that.

          4                 As relates to this pay- to- play

          5  thing, Mr. Crowell, unfortunately, I do not know

          6  whose responsibility it was, but we were not given

          7  your testimony to read while you were going along.

          8  You have a lot of stuff in here, so I was lost up in

          9  just trying to get my hands on it to understand

         10  some.  So, some of my questions may be out of

         11  ignorance.

         12                 The first thing is that, you know,

         13  the Administration insists on how difficult it is to

         14  amass this information about who does business with

         15  the City of New York. It is fact that here is the

         16  technology Mayor Administration who told us that it

         17  was not impossible to put all of the information

         18  about what every City agency does into a system

         19  called 3- 1- 1. And the people who said that that

         20  would never work, were poo pooed and dismissed and

         21  low and behold, at least according to you, the

         22  Administration, 3- 1- 1 works fabulously.  Now I

         23  know a lot of people that tell me that they call,

         24  and they have never gotten a straight answer from 3-

         25  1- 1, but we are not here to debate that.
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          2                 I do think it is a useful tool.  But

          3  this Administration said that we can put all of this

          4  stuff together from however many agencies we have,

          5  and amass all this so that one person can answer the

          6  question.  It cannot be that difficult to tell me

          7  who is doing business with the City of New York, if

          8  you are able to do that.  So, I just think, you

          9  know, your argued one way one time, and then you

         10  argued another way, when this is technology that we

         11  should be supporting.

         12                 I am in some ward measure supportive

         13  of what is trying to be accomplished in this.

         14  However, there just continues to be a level of

         15  disingenuous on the part of this Administration that

         16  I find fascinating.  Over and over again, I am asked

         17  to sit here and discuss the merits of a bill to try

         18  to make fair, to level the playing field, to keep

         19  people honest as it relates to elections, and we

         20  have a man that runs for office who says that he

         21  will spend all that it takes to get elected, and he

         22  is not going to play by the rules that everybody

         23  else has to play by. But I am suppose to dismiss

         24  that, and have some intellectual debate with his

         25  Administration about how everybody else should
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          2  conduct themselves.

          3                 And if you do not think that billions

          4  of dollars has a level of intimidation in it, and

          5  then you look at the kind of not- for- profit

          6  donations that are made to all of these agencies, I

          7  mean not- for- profits out here, who then become

          8  intimidated, because God forbid they should do

          9  something.  So, I do not know.  You know, does the

         10  Executive Director of the ABC AIDS organization, I

         11  worked in the AIDS arena for 15 years, many of these

         12  people are friends of mine.  So now the Executive

         13  Director of an agency decides to make a campaign

         14  contribution to me.  Fifty, 60 percent of their

         15  contracts come from the City. Are they doing

         16  business with the City of New York?  Is it

         17  impossible for that person to give me money?  Would

         18  that money then not be matched?  What about his

         19  assistant?  What about everybody else in the agency?

         20    I do not know.  These are questions that I think

         21  we ought to be able to try to understand.

         22                 It seems to me that if you as you

         23  heard the dialogue before, about trying to make this

         24  whole system user friendly, if you continue to put

         25  that responsibility on the candidate, I do not
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          2  understand why we cannot impose a fine on the person

          3  that makes "illegal" contribution.  Because you are

          4  asking candidates in a very limited time frame to do

          5  all of the necessary investigation.  You also open

          6  us up to the prospect that an opponent will sit

          7  there, as was said, you said that in fact in your

          8  testimony about all of the people that had some

          9  interest in this, who are going to go through and

         10  look at all of my documentation, and drag me into

         11  court, or into the Campaign Finance Board, for the

         12  whole summer trying to decide whether somebody does

         13  or does not work or have a contract with the City of

         14  New York.  That is an imposition that is

         15  overwhelming to candidates, unless they have a

         16  billion dollars.  And then if they do, then they are

         17  not playing, so it does not matter.

         18                 So, I just think that we have got to

         19  fix these conflicts in this.  This may not be a bad

         20  bill.  But nevertheless, I think that there are ways

         21  that we should, I think that you have the technology

         22  to do this, clearly.  I think it is chutzpa to come

         23  and continue to tell us how to run our business,

         24  when you won't comply with yourself, that means the

         25  Administration.  And I think that the responsibility
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          2  sooner or later has to be taken off the candidates

          3  to make sure that everything is pure and clean.  I

          4  just think that becomes an impossible task.  I

          5  certainly want to give you a chance to reply.

          6                 MR. CROWELL:  Sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But I did want

          8  to also, I am sorry, in commenting about the Voter

          9  Commission.  I think that we get lost up in the

         10  issue of, we were saying and it also was true with

         11  the Redistricting Commission and Charter Commission,

         12  and no more than one person from any party could be

         13  on the thing.  We have two major parties in the City

         14  of New York, period, where 90 percent of the

         15  registered voters belong.  So, it seems to me if we

         16  are saying that you can only have one Democrat and

         17  one Republican, and then you have to have somebody

         18  from the Green party, and the Independence party

         19  still a party, and all these other little parties,

         20  it seems to me that you are giving those small

         21  parties a disproportionately high role in this.  So,

         22  if you looked at the proportion, perhaps, of the

         23  voters registered, other than, and I appreciate that

         24  we are trying to be fair, but if you give a party

         25  with half a dozen members a seat on the Commission,
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          2  and then it is just like the same thing we did when

          3  Chairman Schwarz was here talking about the Charter

          4  revision, to take the inequity out of that system.

          5                 So, it is just an intellectual

          6  curiosity on my part that all of sudden we give them

          7  more standing than we would give somebody else.  I

          8  think we are just trying to be cute by saying you

          9  can only have one of this and one of that.

         10                 MR. KRAUS:  Well let me respond to

         11  that in a couple of ways.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I am sorry I

         13  was trying to put all of my comments out there,

         14  because of my political- -

         15                 MR. KRAUS:  And I will be very brief.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Okay.

         17                 MR. KRAUS:  I made this proposal last

         18  year in response to concerns raised by various good

         19  government groups, that the composition of the

         20  Commission made it appear that the Commission was

         21  not independent of the Mayor.  So my thinking at the

         22  time was, if you remove all of these individuals and

         23  create a commission made up of commissioners, that

         24  eliminates that concern.

         25                 And as far as the idea of there being
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          2  limits in terms of party membership, that is typical

          3  in terms of most regulatory bodies, where there is a

          4  limitation placed, so that there is an assurance of

          5  some bipartisanship.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well just

          7  because it is done by most people, it does not mean

          8  it is the best, and smartest, or right way to go

          9  about it.

         10                 MR. KRAUS:  That may be.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But thank you

         12  for your comments.

         13                 MR. CROWELL:  All right, I would like

         14  to address each one of your four concerns.  First on

         15  the technology issue, as I said in my testimony, the

         16  Administration is more than willing to work with the

         17  Council and the CFB to ensure that the existing

         18  databases and resources that are available are

         19  coordinated properly through technology.  And I

         20  think that the Campaign Finance Board's database,

         21  alone, is a good start in working with that.  And I

         22  think that coordination is something that we are

         23  here and willing to do.  So I do not want there to

         24  be any misconceptions about that.

         25                 I also think that it is important to
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          2  understand that the CFB's auditors have always

          3  conducted various types of investigations in the

          4  potential violations with only piecemeal

          5  information, as I was saying, investigations into

          6  corporate contributions, affiliated contributions,

          7  intermediate or bundled contributions, and missing

          8  or fraudulent employer information. And really

          9  between the vigilance of the CFB, itself, the

         10  caution of contributors, that would those doing

         11  business with the City, or not, and the scrutiny of

         12  candidates, their opponents, and the press, it is

         13  very likely that the proposed law, as we have been

         14  discussing today would eliminate the vast majority

         15  of pay- to- play contributions.  And really the few

         16  that would be made, would be identified.  So I think

         17  that it is really achievable through the existing

         18  structures, and the level of scrutiny that I have

         19  described.

         20                 As far as the issues concerning the

         21  Mayor and the amount of money, he may or may not

         22  choose to spend on an election, I think the issue is

         23  that he is Chief Executive Officer of the City of

         24  New York.  Regardless of whether he is a participant

         25  in the Campaign Finance Program or not, he has an
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          2  obligation, as does the City Council, and every

          3  other official in the City, to make sure that the

          4  public integrity is safeguarded, to make sure that

          5  the taxpayers are not paying for something, are not

          6  being built, basically.

          7                 Last, in the last election season we

          8  paid out $42 million from the Campaign Finance

          9  Program to support candidates, something that I do

         10  not think that anyone can dispute, is a very

         11  worthwhile, important, significant achievement for

         12  the City of New York.  But at the same time we have

         13  to make sure that we are not improperly paying out

         14  on these pay- to- play contributions, the matching

         15  funds.  You know, $42 million could put 1,000 cops

         16  on the street.  I mean, I think it is in everyone's

         17  interest to make sure that when we make expenditures

         18  of that magnitude, or of any magnitude, that they

         19  are done so with the utmost of integrity, and that

         20  the public can be sure that that is how the program

         21  is being administered.

         22                 And more importantly, we cannot

         23  forget that there was a voter mandate.  And that the

         24  will of the voter needs to be protected and that

         25  people's vote need to count.  And so that is what
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          2  this is about.  It is not about a self- funded

          3  candidate.

          4                 And I would like to further mention-

          5   -

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And again,

          7  unfortunately again, I did not see your testimony.

          8  And I sometimes not being able to recall everything

          9  that we voted on in 1998.  So, was there any other

         10  questions on the referendum in 1998.

         11                 MR. CROWELL:  No that was the sole

         12  question.  I can read it to you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  That was the

         14  only question?

         15                 MR. CROWELL:  There was one question

         16  and it had four components.  I will read it to, if

         17  you want.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  If it is the

         19  part that is in your testimony, then you do not need

         20  to read it.  I have read it.

         21                 MR. CROWELL:  Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  That was not

         23  part of some omnibus.

         24                 MR. CROWELL:  No, no.  It was a

         25  single question, a single City question on the
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          2  ballot in 1998.  That is right, the Charter

          3  Commission only had one question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well I do think

          5  that the point that the Chair made was, that you

          6  know, it asked them to look into doing this.  And

          7  fundamentally, I am always, so far, been a

          8  candidate.  And I know that at some point you need

          9  to try to stop putting every responsibility on a

         10  candidate.  I do not know why you would object to

         11  the fine being imposed on the contributor, as

         12  opposed to the person that accepted it.  The

         13  contributor knows whether they do business with the

         14  City of New York.  That is if you write up what is

         15  fairly clear.  And in terms of it, they understand

         16  that.

         17                 And you know, you could certainly say

         18  on there sign this and say that you do not work for

         19  the City of New York. But at some point I do not

         20  have the investigatory powers or the wherewithal as

         21  a candidate, to figure out who you are.  What about

         22  you, if you wanted to make a contribution, could you

         23  make one, as a private citizen?  Under your rules

         24  and regulations, you do business with the City of

         25  New York, could you make a contribution?
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          2                 MR. CROWELL:  Well I am an employee

          3  of the City of New York.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Could you make

          5  a contribution?

          6                 MR. CROWELL:  I believe I could.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  You are not

          8  sure?

          9                 MR. CROWELL:  I could, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Oh, all right,

         11  because I am just trying to be clear.

         12                 MR. CROWELL:  But remember our rule

         13  even says that even if you are doing business with

         14  City, and I could give to the person running for

         15  Council member in my district.  I could give $250.

         16  It would not be matched.  So, that answers your

         17  question.

         18                 I can address some of your other

         19  questions that you raised.  I would actually like

         20  to.

         21                 Just following up on the part about

         22  candidates who do not participate in the Campaign

         23  Finance Program.  I just want to point out that, you

         24  know, Howard Dean and John Kerry, both opted out of

         25  the Federal Campaign Finance Program.  I did not
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          2  hear any criticisms of them.  No, they supported

          3  Campaign Finance Reforms.  Gifford Miller, himself,

          4  chose not to participate in the program in 2001.

          5  And I think press report said that was so he could

          6  operate a pack outside of the CFB spending limits.

          7  And John Corzine, also opted out of New Jersey's

          8  program and spent about as much as the Mayor, and I

          9  do not remember hearing any criticisms of him.

         10                 And none of us would argue that these

         11  are public officials who had the integrity of the

         12  system in their best interest.  So, I think that is

         13  really important to accentuate.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well if it

         15  would make you feel better I will offer a blanket

         16  criticism to all of those people that you just

         17  mentioned.

         18                 MR. CROWELL:  Okay.  On your issue

         19  about the Executive Director of the ABC AIDS

         20  Organization, you know, as I said, we want to make

         21  sure that the definition of doing business is clear.

         22    That has to be something that is fine tuned, and

         23  needs to be written in a way that addresses all of

         24  these kinds of concerns.  You know, it is best that

         25  we do not have to have a variety of interpretations
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          2  of what the law actually covers.  But this is

          3  something that, I said, we welcome an opportunity

          4  and really talk brass tacks about actually

          5  accomplishing the goal of getting the best

          6  definition possible.

          7                 And finally, the responsibility of

          8  the candidate. We have, I cannot stress enough, we

          9  have State law concerns and we have the voter

         10  mandate.  And I think there is the resources out

         11  there and the information flow, as well as the

         12  certain checks on the system that would make this a

         13  workable system.  And obviously a person that is

         14  already legally mandated, just not effectuated or

         15  implemented.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I think we all

         17  want to make it happen.  And, Mr. Chair, I think

         18  that, you know, we may not want to have an informal

         19  meeting with this group.  But we should meet with

         20  it.  But, I think what the Council member and the

         21  Chair said earlier, I do not hear the Mayor telling

         22  the Governor that we ought to have pay- to- play at

         23  that level.

         24                 I do not hear the Mayor discussing

         25  that we ought to be able to bring into the Council
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          2  legislation a Home Rule Message.  How many Home Rule

          3  Messages do you think we voted on this year, Council

          4  member, that were brought to us by the Mayor?

          5  Twenty, thirty, I mean in this term.  Right?

          6                 So, it is not complicated.  You know,

          7  he knows the process of asking the Governor and the

          8  State Legislature.  If that is an impediment, well

          9  then lets use his good office and his relationship

         10  with the Governor.  Hell, they might want to

         11  implement it up in Albany.  There seems to be a lot

         12  of playing going on up there and paying at the same

         13  time.  So, you know, we are the small kids on the

         14  block.

         15                 I could accept more creditability

         16  from the Administration's efforts if I say a Home

         17  Rule Message here, resolution, or something, and

         18  then we could have a dialogue.

         19                 MR. CROWELL:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me just

         21  follow up a little bit with that, just one quick

         22  question.  Your legislation focuses only on those

         23  who are participating in the Campaign Finance

         24  Program.  What about for those who are not

         25  participating in the program?  Would you want them
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          2  to be including in this solution?

          3                 MR. CROWELL:  Well we only have the

          4  ability, this is a voluntary system, we only have

          5  the ability to regulate this area, otherwise it

          6  would fall to State law.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You are saying

          8  that we cannot draft legislation that says that all

          9  who run have to comply by this rule, by this law?

         10                 MR. CROWELL:  Anyone who is running.

         11  My understanding is- -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Whether they

         13  are in the Campaign Finance Program or not.  Like

         14  the Mayor, for instance, is not ever in the program.

         15    Would you want him to comply by this rule, by this

         16  law, in terms of donations?

         17                 MR. CROWELL:  This law would only

         18  cover those who participate in the Campaign Finance

         19  Program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  What I am

         21  asking you is do you think those who do not

         22  participate should be allowed to accept

         23  contributions from those who are doing business with

         24  the City?

         25                 MR. CROWELL:  I do not- -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Do you think

          3  that they should be allowed to accept contributions?

          4                 MR. CROWELL:  I think there is a

          5  concern, I think we have annunciated our concern

          6  generally, with pay- to- play.  I think that there

          7  are legal issues involved with what you are talking

          8  about.  So, I think really we have to focus on the

          9  Campaign Finance Program, itself, and as we have

         10  other discussions those can be explored.  But right

         11  now I am talking about the legal issues.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, let me ask

         13  you a question.  So those who do not play by the

         14  rules can pay- to- play, but those who do play by

         15  the rules cannot pay- to- play?

         16                 MR. CROWELL:  Make no mistake, my

         17  testimony here is not an endorsement for anyone to

         18  misbehave in the arena of campaigning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But it allows

         20  for only those who are in the program.

         21                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, no, this is not a

         22  proposal that allows for.  What we are talking about

         23  here is the Campaign Finance Program and protecting

         24  the fiscal integrity of the City, the integrity of

         25  government decision- making, in the Administration

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  of this program.  What you are talking about falls

          3  outside of the legal construct which we are talking

          4  about.  It is not that it is not a discussion could

          5  arguably happen, but this is not what this is about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me just be

          7  clear, because I am not sure that I understand.  If

          8  I am not in the program, I can pay- to- play.  There

          9  is no legal, do you see that as a problem?

         10                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, there are laws

         11  that would otherwise, govern your conduct, but they

         12  are not City laws.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But your law

         14  would allow that to take place, that those who are

         15  not in the program would not be subject to this law,

         16  that they could still continue to pay- to- play.  I

         17  mean even the State laws that might have some

         18  jurisdiction.

         19                 MR. CROWELL:  This law does not give

         20  an express grant of permission or authority for

         21  people pay- to- play.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I realize that

         23  it does not give the expressed, but not including

         24  those who do not participate, it sort of is a

         25  loophole for them to be able to pay to- play.
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          2                 MR. CROWELL:  Well it goes back to

          3  what you were saying, that if people find the system

          4  too burdensome to not comply with the law, or to

          5  make the disclosure as to who may be doing business

          6  with the City and giving campaign contributions, for

          7  them to opt- out of participating in the system.  Is

          8  that what you are referring to?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I just think

         10  that this solution should address all candidates,

         11  not just those that are playing by the rules.  It

         12  should address all candidates, including those who

         13  have opted- out, and in many respects are violating

         14  the rules, at least the spirit of the rules.  And

         15  then so, it would seem to me that we are saying that

         16  you cannot pay to- play, if you are in the Campaign

         17  Finance Program, but you can pay- to- play if you

         18  decide to not go in the Campaign Finance Program.

         19  So, it is sort of an incentive not to go into the

         20  program.

         21                 MR. CROWELL:  Well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It is sort of

         23  an incentive to go outside of the program because

         24  then all of those doing business with the City, with

         25  the exception of whatever State laws apply, which
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          2  are very, you know, weak by comparison, you can

          3  benefit.  The benefit is not to be in the program.

          4  This is undermining the program, it seems to me from

          5  that prospective.

          6                 MR. CROWELL:  No, I understand what

          7  you are saying.  I just want to point out and hope

          8  that our dialogue is not getting too muddled.  The

          9  point of my being here today is really to talk about

         10  the implementation of what the voters adopted in

         11  that Charter referendum, which made explicitly clear

         12  that it is about the voluntary Campaign Finance

         13  System.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Well I think it

         15  is essentially about what is good government, what

         16  is good for the people of the City of New York.  So,

         17  while this particular piece of, the referendum that

         18  you are making reference to, is specific with regard

         19  to the program, the concept, nevertheless, is one

         20  that should apply above and beyond the program, it

         21  would seem if it has any validity at all, because

         22  you are trying to take that kind of money influence

         23  out of the process, whether you are in the program

         24  or not.

         25                 MR. CROWELL:  We could certainly have
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          2  a discussion on legally how to approach a variety of

          3  issues, as we discussed here today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  My Counsel has

          5  pointed out to me that it does not make any

          6  reference to the Campaign Finance Program.  The

          7  question says- -

          8                 MR. CROWELL: The question says, shall

          9  the changes related to the voluntary Campaign

         10  Finance System, including prohibiting corporate

         11  contributions, to requiring disclosure and

         12  regulation of contributions by those doing business

         13  with the City of New York, and regulation of

         14  indirect campaign expenditures.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  All right,

         16  thank you.

         17                 MR. CROWELL:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you all

         19  very much.  I want to ask the next panel to come up,

         20  quickly.  We are kind of running out of time.  I am

         21  sorry that we have taken so long, but this obviously

         22  was some weighty stuff.  So, Common Cause, Megan

         23  Quattlebaum; Unlock the Block, Joseph Hayden; Jessie

         24  Allen, the Brenman Center; and Neil Rosenstein,

         25  NYPIRG.  Is Wanda Williams, DC37?
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          2                 I want to begin with an apology.

          3  There is another hearing scheduled to begin here at

          4  one o'clock.  And so, I am really asking you to be

          5  as brief as possible, so that we can be as thorough

          6  as possible in our dialogue in exchange.  I want to

          7  thank all of you for your patience and for the

          8  continued work that you have been doing in this

          9  area.  And I look forward to your continued

         10  involvement.

         11                 With that, we are going to have you

         12  sworn in by our Counsel.  Is there anybody else who

         13  wants to testify after this panel?

         14                 MR. HAYDEN:  Yes, Jessie Allen from

         15  the Brenman Center.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  If there is

         17  anyone else, make sure you sign up because we do not

         18  have any other slips.

         19                 MR. TOLLIN:  Good afternoon.  Could

         20  you each raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly

         21  swear or affirm that the testimony that you are

         22  about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

         23  nothing but the truth?

         24                 ALL:  I do.

         25                 MR. TOLLIN:  Could you before
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          2  testifying state your name and organization that you

          3  are affiliated with, and then go right into your

          4  testimony?

          5                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I will start.

          6  Howdy.  Good afternoon, my name is - -

          7                 MR. TOLLIN:  And if everybody could

          8  please keep it to two minutes and you know.

          9                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  My name is Neal

         10  Rosenstein, Government Reform Coordinator for NYPIRG

         11  the New York Public Interest Research Group.  I will

         12  be reading very brief excerpts from my testimony

         13  today.

         14                 First, on pay- to- play, Mayor

         15  Bloomberg and his staff have criticized the Campaign

         16  Finance Board for not going on head, but

         17  unfortunately, we agree that they are kind of

         18  approaching the problem backwards, from the wrong

         19  end, and actually find it very difficult to believe

         20  the Special Counsel's statement that the City is

         21  powerless to propose legislation.  At the very least

         22  in the contracting process, would ask those

         23  contractors to identify themselves, so the City can

         24  actually create a database.  I find it very hard to

         25  believe that the City does not have that authority.
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          2  And we have not actually seen that legal case laid

          3  out by the City.

          4                 Until they do that, I think it is

          5  very hard to take their proposal seriously.  It is

          6  kind of like saying, you need to go on a diet, and

          7  we are not going to regulate what you eat, we are

          8  going to take a look at the other end of the

          9  process. And that is not the right way to go about

         10  addressing the problem.            With that said,

         11  we stand ready to work with the City and with the

         12  Council to try to address what is a problem. And at

         13  the least, what can be perceived as a problem by the

         14  City and by the voters, who voted in favor of this.

         15  And working a solution that gets us pay- to- play,

         16  which is workable.

         17                 And for us, the issue, which Council

         18  members have brought up the fairness of crafting a

         19  proposal, which really places the burden on

         20  candidates opting into the program, is also a great

         21  concern to our organization.

         22                 Quickly moving on to Pro- Voter.  It

         23  is clear Council action is needed because the City

         24  has really dropped the ball, and has been very

         25  disappointing in their actions on voter
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          2  registration.  The Council's own investigative unit

          3  has found that City agencies are not even meeting

          4  the most basic requirements, to distribute forms.

          5  That is what we think the mandate is good to attach

          6  them.

          7                 And I just also, we have a number of

          8  other suggestions, but I just want to address

          9  Chairman Kraus's concerns about immigrants and

         10  Council Member Reed's.  Actually, I think he was

         11  very misleading, very misleading.  Verbal assistance

         12  is already done in City agencies across New York,

         13  and across the State, and across the country under

         14  the NVRA and the Motor- Voter Program.  Verbal

         15  assistance does not require that an agency employee

         16  ask someone's citizenship status.  There is nothing

         17  that would violate that privacy of that individual

         18  to their own status.  What it allows is if an

         19  individual has a question, and they ask, hey, I am

         20  not a citizen, can I register, for an agency

         21  employee to say, no, you should not be.  Right now,

         22  with a prohibition and no verbal assistance, you are

         23  actually potentially putting non- citizens in more

         24  jeopardy by not actually providing that information.

         25    There is no requirement that people have to
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          2  disclose that information.  It is voluntary verbal

          3  assistance.  It is in place in HRA agencies, under

          4  the Motor Voter Program.  And there is no reason it

          5  should not be in place in other city agencies.

          6                 I will just quickly wrap up.  And as

          7  I say we have some comments on the collection forms

          8  that deal with making sure that forms get to the

          9  Board of Elections on time that are collected.  We

         10  figure it may be an important technical change to

         11  the legislation to make sure that people's forms get

         12  there before the deadline.

         13                 We are also in favor of the proposal

         14  for restructuring VAC, that is before you today.

         15  But I would like to say we think language should be

         16  incorporated, directly, that helps ensure that the

         17  six appointed commissioners have strong non-

         18  partisan backgrounds.  You know, for us, what is

         19  more important, we kind of like the idea that there

         20  are not multiple members of the same party.  What is

         21  more important is that the person not be, let's say,

         22  have any recent ties to elected officials, the

         23  candidates, or the party organizations, or other

         24  partisan entities.  This should be a non- partisan

         25  entity that is really looking over the shoulder, as
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          2  well as assisting the Council, the Board of

          3  Elections, the Pro- Voter Law.  For its own

          4  creditability, we think that is something that you

          5  may want to consider adding to the requirements for

          6  commissioners.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me just ask

          8  a quick question, because the notion of being non-

          9  partisan to me, is a little exotic.  How would you

         10  describe someone, how do you determine that someone

         11  is non- partisan?

         12                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Well I would say

         13  that maybe in the last year or two, someone should

         14  not have been working on a partisan campaign, or

         15  working for an elected official who is a candidate

         16  for office.  Someone who has been working at the

         17  League of Women Voters, I would say probably would

         18  more fit accurately, fit that description.  I do not

         19  want to personalize this, we have had this position

         20  for a long time about commissioners, and the

         21  coordinator of the Voter Assistance Commission, that

         22  they should kind of be above that level of having

         23  active or very recent ties to partisan, kind of

         24  election- related activity.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, does that
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          2  include being registered in a party?

          3                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  No, that would not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Does that

          5  include voting, your voting pattern, so- to- speak?

          6                 MR ROSENSTEIN:  No, for us it would

          7  be, as I said, recent ties to elected officials, to

          8  party organizations, but not to the way that you

          9  vote, not the way that you are registered, but just

         10  elevated to a level, it could be for pay, it could

         11  be for a recognized position, with any of those

         12  entities that is involved, once more, in partisan

         13  work.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Yes.  I am

         15  sorry to just jump into this.  I will let the rest

         16  of you testify.  But I always find it hard to deal

         17  with this notion of non- partisan, because how do

         18  you measure it?

         19                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  It is difficult to

         20  those folks who are frequently the people who know

         21  the most and are the most involved, and might do the

         22  most good on a commission in terms of their

         23  background.  But we do think that they is a lot of

         24  qualified individuals out there.  And I do not want

         25  to point to my fellow panel members, there is a lot
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          2  of qualified folks that could be appointed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Yes there is a

          4  lot of qualified folks, but most of them are

          5  partisan in some respect. But anyway, thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Let us say

          7  also, that if we were to empower that panel, they

          8  would probably all be great. But I do not know what

          9  their party affiliation is, but probably half of

         10  them could not serve because they are in the same

         11  party. That is the problem.  And just being in a

         12  party does not make you partisan.

         13                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  No that is not what

         14  we are suggesting, party enrollment, necessarily,

         15  and/or the way you vote.

         16                 MR. HAYDEN:  Yes, good afternoon.  My

         17  name is Joseph Hayden.  I am the Director of a

         18  coalition in New York that is composed of over 76

         19  organizations.  And we have organized ourselves

         20  around the issue of felony disenfranchisement.  And

         21  I just want to address Section 1, Section 1057A, you

         22  know, agency based voter registration, which is very

         23  important to the members of our coalition in the

         24  work that we are doing.

         25                 This year, during this election
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          2  cycle, I was out in the community along with the

          3  members of my coalition, and we were doing voter

          4  registration, and public education around the issue

          5  of felony disenfranchisement.  And during the

          6  process of doing this, we confirmed what we had

          7  already known was the major ignorance around the

          8  issue of who is eligible to vote and who is not

          9  eligible to vote, especially those that have somehow

         10  been, had any interaction with the criminal justice

         11  system

         12                 I think that this bill, especially

         13  the section on agency- based voter registration

         14  would go a long way towards eliminating some of the

         15  ignorance, and some of barriers to participation in

         16  political process, if it was to pass.  We are

         17  particularly concerned, and have been concerned

         18  since we have initiated this campaign here in New

         19  York City, about having notification become

         20  institutionalized in the Department of Corrections,

         21  Department of Probation, and even in the court

         22  system, if that is possible, because experience has

         23  shown that the people most impacted by the felony

         24  disenfranchisement laws in New York State, New York

         25  City, are the ones that are the most ignorant about
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          2  their rights under these laws.  This could be

          3  severely, you know, favorably impacted if this

          4  legislation was passed.

          5                 So, I am going to leave my comments

          6  there.  I the rest of my concerns are in the

          7  material that I brought.

          8                 MS. ALLEN:  Hello, I am Jessie Allen.

          9    I am an Associate Counsel at the Brenman Center

         10  for Justice at NYU School of Law.  I just want to

         11  add one quick thing as members of the Right to Vote

         12  Coalition, with JASA's organization, as well, and I

         13  am here with Erika Wood from the Legal Action

         14  Center, who are co signers of this testimony.  We

         15  will not go through the whole thing here.

         16                 But we also agree that this is

         17  essential legislation to really make real City

         18  agencies duty to actively assist voter registration.

         19    We wanted to add just two quick points that we

         20  think would be productive amendments, of this

         21  legislation.  I will speak to the first, and Erika

         22  will mention the second.

         23                 The first has to do with HAVA's ID

         24  requirements. We think that the legislation should

         25  be amended to clarify that people who register
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          2  through these forms that they receive at City

          3  agencies, should not be subject to the HAVA ID

          4  requirement for first- time mail in registration.

          5  That it should be clear that that is not necessary

          6  here, even if the agencies themselves mail the

          7  thing.  The point is that the person showed up in

          8  front of a City official, and the reason for that

          9  requirement is just obviated by that.

         10                 So, that is the first point.

         11                 MS. WOOD:  Good afternoon.  Erika

         12  Wood, I am an attorney with the Legal Action Center.

         13    I just want to briefly talk about a second point,

         14  which is the incorporation by agencies of assisting

         15  people to register to vote.  And also more

         16  importantly, the training part of the amendment.

         17                 Since testifying before you last

         18  year, we have actually continued our advocacy

         19  efforts.  I know Council Member Perkins is familiar

         20  with work that we have done in making sure that de

         21  facto barriers that have been instructed by the

         22  State Board of Elections and local Board's of

         23  Elections to people with felony convictions being

         24  able to register to vote have been lifted.  And that

         25  actually is moving along quite smoothly.  And
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          2  Councilman Perkins was very helpful in helping us

          3  implement that.

          4                 But since doing that, and in this

          5  past year, we have continued to work with the

          6  Department of Probation here in New York City, and

          7  the Department of Corrections to expand their

          8  outreach and voter education of people with felony

          9  records, both inside Rikers and other local City

         10  jails, as well as through the Probation Department,

         11  people who are on probation and are not held to vote

         12  while on probation.

         13                 And it is really just an example of

         14  City agencies, we want to commend the City

         15  Department of Probation and Corrections for taking

         16  this on, and for working with us.  They have used

         17  our materials.  They have distributed our materials.

         18  They have really expanded the information that they

         19  give out to people about their voting rights.  And

         20  they are really an example of agency's willingness

         21  to mobilize and engage in this issue. And I think

         22  that this is an important example of that.

         23                 However, it is just a small step in

         24  long road to making sure that people are aware of

         25  their rights.  And I think, just lastly, the
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          2  training part, there is still enormous confusion,

          3  misinformation, about the ability of people with

          4  felony convictions, and people with criminal records

          5  right to vote, there is a lot of miseducation out

          6  there in City agencies, even within the Department

          7  of Corrections, the Department of Probation.  And

          8  really, we do need to correct that so that people

          9  have the right information and are able to exercise

         10  their rights.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Yes that

         12  misinformation is pervasive throughout the

         13  community, generally speaking.

         14                 MS. WOOD:  Yes, Sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And there is no

         16  proactive effort to the level that is necessary to

         17  make sure that the City agencies are aware of what

         18  the law actually is, and maybe that can play a role

         19  in that.  I do not know, but it is something that is

         20  very, very important, because most people think that

         21  if they have ever had a felony, they can never vote

         22  for the rest of their life.

         23                 MS. WOOD:  Right.  We have clients

         24  that say that frequently, and if there is not

         25  someone there to correct them, and tell them that
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          2  they do actually have the right to vote.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And I dared say

          4  even inspectors at the Board of Elections are

          5  subject to that same misinformation.

          6                 MS. WOOD:  Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So, it is a

          8  very challenging thing because it has been a

          9  campaign over years, and years, and years to make

         10  people believe that.  And so now we have to have a

         11  counter campaign to help dispel that.  I do not

         12  think it is a malicious thing per se, I just think

         13  it is a severely ignorance on people's part.

         14                 Next.

         15                 MR. ISRAEL:  Hello.  I am Douglas

         16  Israel, Advocacy Director with Citizen's Union.  I

         17  wanted to thank you for this abbreviated opportunity

         18  to provide testimony on these bills. Real quickly,

         19  Citizen's Union supports Introductions 1, 61, and

         20  496.  Strengthening the Pro- Voter Law as outlined

         21  in 1 and 61, will increase the visibility and

         22  effectiveness of the mandated voter registration

         23  activities.

         24                 Likewise, Intro. 496, we support a

         25  more empowered and effective Voter Assistance
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          2  Commission.  And we also believe that it can be

          3  strengthened by prohibiting commissioners from

          4  having current or recent ties to any elected

          5  official, candidate, party organization, or any

          6  other partisan entity.  And we also believe that the

          7  Voter Assistance Commission should be provided more

          8  adequate funding to conduct its duties of oversight

          9  of the Board of Elections, and enforcement of

         10  community- and agency based voter registration

         11  programs.

         12                 Regarding the five proposed Campaign

         13  Finance Bills, our present Citizen's Union has not

         14  taken a position on any of them.  We are looking at

         15  all of them.  I would like to put one thing out

         16  there.  While Citizen's Union has not reached a

         17  formal position on Introduction 388, we believe that

         18  it would be ill- advised to provide candidates

         19  running for Supreme Court with public matching

         20  funds, as much as the Chairman of the Campaign

         21  Finance Board mentioned.  You know, until there is a

         22  time where there are party primaries and the

         23  candidates are not selected by judicial delegates,

         24  we feel that this is not a good use of the taxpayer

         25  money.
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          2                 And we will get back to you on those

          3  Campaign Finance Bills in the very near future.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:   With that

          5  testimony, I would like to introduce David Yassky,

          6  who is a sponsor of the legislation that you

          7  commented on.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

          9  Chair Perkins. And thanks for the opportunity to

         10  join your Committee today.  I know you are on very

         11  short time constraints, so I will be very brief.  I

         12  just want to first of all, commend everything that

         13  you are doing today, because you have a tremendous

         14  amount of work here before you.  I wish the

         15  Committee good luck in doing it.

         16                 I just want to urge you not to forget

         17  about these two bills that are in here.  I know,

         18  because there is so much on the table, have not

         19  gotten a ton of discussion.  But both Intro. 125,

         20  your own legislation, bringing referenda within the

         21  Campaign Finance System, which I think would be a

         22  very useful step to make sure that you do not have

         23  one person's or two peoples pocketbooks changing the

         24  fundamental rule that our City lives by, our City

         25  Charter, to have a public financing system that can
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          2  deal with charter referenda, as well as elections of

          3  candidates, I think would be very useful.

          4                 And also Intro. 388, and Mr. Israel,

          5  I want to just respond to what you said.  Believe

          6  me, I actually believe that even in the Campaign

          7  Finance System as it applies to candidates, we ought

          8  to be more rigorous in screening out non competitive

          9  races so that taxpayer money is not wasted.  This I

         10  strongly do not think this would be a waste.  In

         11  fact, I think this would a useful expenditure of

         12  public funds to bring judicial races into the

         13  Campaign Finance System.

         14                 My goal in doing this is to

         15  precisely, because I do not think that the party

         16  judicial nominating convention way of picking judges

         17  is a good way of doing it.  I think we should have

         18  competitive elections.  The best way to do that is

         19  with primaries.  That requires the State to act.

         20  Until such a time as they do that, though, I think

         21  we can have more competitive general elections, if

         22  public financing plays a role.  I did not believe

         23  that a few years ago.  But the experience in

         24  Brooklyn a couple of years ago, where a third party

         25  mounted a slate of judicial candidates in Supreme
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          2  Court races, and did quite well, did not win any of

          3  them.  But I think in a public financing environment

          4  may well have.

          5                 At the very least, would have made

          6  the elections competitive enough that the major

          7  parties would feel that they are at risk of losing

          8  an election, if they nominate candidates who cannot

          9  stand up to the scrutiny of the electorate.  And

         10  that is why I think this is worth doing.  So, I

         11  share your concern. And you can write into public

         12  finance legislation safeguards against when there is

         13  non- competitive races, there is a mild version of

         14  that in the existing system.  I think frankly, that

         15  should be strengthened for candidate elections, for

         16  political offices, but it could be done just the

         17  same for the judge offices.

         18                 So, I would urge you not to give up

         19  on the goal of making whatever improvements that we

         20  can make here at home, in the way we pick judges,

         21  rather than say we have to wait for the State to

         22  act, because that could be a long wait.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me mention

         24  a few quick things in that vain.  I should let you

         25  know that with respect to Intro. 125, there was from
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          2  at least the Campaign Finance Board's point of view,

          3  a positive response, particularly when looking at

          4  requiring disclosure of ballot initiatives.  Not

          5  necessarily, there is some complexity with regard to

          6  funding.  You know, what groups would you fund?  How

          7  would you determine who gets the funding?  But be

          8  that as it may, it was also a constitutional issue

          9  in terms of you can limit the contributions, but you

         10  cannot limit the spending.

         11                 Nevertheless, that was all said in a

         12  positive vain by the Campaign Finance Board, in

         13  terms of something that we should be sitting down

         14  with them to discuss further.

         15                 With regard to 388, there was a

         16  suggestion of pause, only because there are two

         17  events taking place.  One is the Feerick Commission

         18  is appointed by Kaye, Judith Kaye, is looking at

         19  this in terms of some State- wide possibilities that

         20  might be responsive.

         21                 And secondly, he, himself, the

         22  Commission Schwarz, is the lead attorney in the

         23  Brooklyn case, the Brooklyn lawsuit with regard to

         24  this process of the Supreme Court races, through the

         25  Brenman Center, as a matter of fact.  So, there is,

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  in short, there is an appreciation of the goal, but

          3  suggesting that there be a pause to get the benefit

          4  of these two particular actions that might help with

          5  regard to the solution.

          6                 But in the meantime, you are

          7  obviously are on the right track.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

          9  Chair.  And I understand the time jam.  Let me just

         10  say that if I understand that, that the Campaign

         11  Finance Board, Mr. Schwarz, was favorable with

         12  respect to civil court races, but raised those red

         13  flags on Supreme Court, which I understand.  They

         14  are different animals and should be treated

         15  differently.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But the basic

         17  reason for that, as I believe the gentleman from the

         18  Citizen's Union pointed out, which is that the

         19  reality in the City is that there are no races for

         20  Supreme Court.  There are the nominating process,

         21  which I participate in occasionally, basically

         22  predetermines who is going to become the Supreme

         23  Court judge.  And so, you know, that is where that

         24  problem lies from his point of view.

         25                 What we know with respect to the
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          2  other races, there is more opportunity for an actual

          3  race.  And as you pointed out, nobody wants to fund

          4  a non- competitive race.

          5                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Good afternoon.  My

          6  name is Megan Quattlebaum, I am the Associate

          7  Director of Common Cause/NY.  Common Cause/NY is a

          8  citizen's lobby whose goal is open and accountable

          9  government.  We appreciate the opportunity to offer

         10  testimony to this Committee today.  We will offer

         11  comments on Intros. 467, 1, 61, 496, 125, and 388.

         12                 Despite the flaws inherent in this

         13  piece of legislation, Common Cause/NY does believe

         14  that New York City can address the pay- to- play

         15  problem constructively.  Common Cause/NJ has helped

         16  to write a model municipal ordinance on pay- to-

         17  play reform, which I have attached to the written

         18  copies of my testimony.  This model legislation

         19  requires that those seeking contracts with the City

         20  provide a sworn statement made under penalty of

         21  perjury that the bidder has not made a contribution

         22  in violation of the terms of the act.  In the case

         23  of New York City, this could be written to mean any

         24  contribution other than a maximum $250 contribution

         25  from an individual bidder to a candidate for whom
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          2  he/she is eligible to vote, with this contribution

          3  not applicable for public matching funds.  If the

          4  entity seeking the contract knowingly fails to

          5  reveal a contribution made in violation of the act,

          6  the bidder is then disqualified from seeking future

          7  contracts for a period of four calendar years from

          8  the date of the violation.

          9                 We believe that legislation of this

         10  type would do more to curb the pay- to- play in New

         11  York City, while exacting no harm on the city's

         12  model campaign Finance Program.

         13                 Again, the New Jersey model has the

         14  added benefit of applying to all contributions, not

         15  just contributions made to candidates who

         16  participate in the voluntary Campaign Finance

         17  Program, ensuring more even application of the law.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You are

         19  advocating that it apply to participants in the

         20  program, as well as to non participants in the

         21  program?

         22                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Unlike the

         24  Mayor's.

         25                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.

          3                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  And we believe that

          4  coupled with real procurement lobbying reform,

          5  legislation based more closely on the New Jersey

          6  model can help ensure that the contracting process

          7  in New York City is transparent and fair.

          8                 Again, at best, we think this

          9  proposal, the one before us today, represents an

         10  inefficient and burdensome approach to solving the

         11  pay- to- play problem, and at worst, undermines the

         12  health of the nation's leading municipal public

         13  financing program.

         14                 Nevertheless, while we do not support

         15  the proposal that is before us today, we do look

         16  forward to working with the Mayor and with the City

         17  Council to develop a workable solution to this

         18  problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well I

         20  certainly appreciate everybody coming and

         21  testifying, and the patience of waiting. This is an

         22  important issue for us to look at.  But I am

         23  curious, whether you come out on, we are arguing, we

         24  are debating, who should be responsible for this.

         25  But I think one of the problems that many candidates
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          2  find in all of these laws, is that once again, the

          3  ones who are the smallest candidates running for the

          4  lower offices, that you end up being fined for

          5  stuff, you know, it is just like, it is a punitive

          6  thing.  It is not like okay, give the money back.

          7  So, I am curious even if we implemented this, would

          8  you agree that what you ought to say is okay you

          9  have to give the money back, but you do not end up

         10  now being fined because of something that you were

         11  not aware that someone did?

         12                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Well I think we

         13  support of a solution that addresses the problem in

         14  an entirely different moment.  We support addressing

         15  the problem at the moment when a potential bidder is

         16  seeking a contract with the City.  So that the

         17  bidder is required to certify that he/she has not

         18  made a contribution in violation of the act.

         19  However,--

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  How do you get

         21  around the people who are already doing business

         22  with the City of New York? When they re- up?

         23                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  The way the New

         24  Jersey legislation was written, it only sort of

         25  takes effect, it does not grandfather in, I suppose.

                                                            155

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2    It only takes effect and applies, you know, once

          3  the date of the new contract.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And this New

          5  Jersey law, that I have heard about now, you know, I

          6  was wondering if the Campaign Finance Board is going

          7  to pay our tolls to get over there to check it out.

          8  But, this was the one that McGreevey put in by

          9  Executive Order, right?

         10                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  I am actually

         11  speaking about--

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So, the

         13  legislature has not even voted on this.  In fact, I

         14  think the new governor is supposedly going to put it

         15  through, so they can stash it away just has not been

         16  implemented or voted on by the legislature, right?

         17                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  I am actually

         18  speaking about a different piece.  This is a model

         19  ordinance, a model pay- to- play ordinance that was

         20  actually supported by the Center for Civic

         21  Responsibility Common Cause/NJ, I believe the

         22  Brenman Center for Justice.  It is a municipal

         23  ordinance that has passed in many cities in New

         24  Jersey.  So, it is a different, although Common

         25  Cause has, you know, I believe also supported.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Is for

          3  municipalities in New Jersey?

          4                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But do believe

          6  that it has applicability to New York City?

          7                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  Obviously, New York

          8  City is a rare and special place, so there is a lot

          9  of issues that we need to look at about how to

         10  implement this here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Sure.  Of

         12  course.

         13                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM:  But we do think

         14  that this model is potentially a better model to

         15  look at for how to.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We will look at

         17  it.  We are definitely going to look at it.  We

         18  really appreciate your patience, your testimony, and

         19  your public service of non partisan, for the most

         20  part, over the decades.  And this Committee, and I

         21  am sure I speak for Matthew, is very appreciative of

         22  the interaction that we have been able to have with

         23  each and every one of you, as we try to improve

         24  governance in the City, whether it is in terms of

         25  elections, Campaign Finance Board, or what have you.
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          2

          3                 So, just really, thank you very much.

          4    Keep up the good work.  That is it.

          5                 (Hearing adjourned at 1:00 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, SHARON CONOVER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 30th day of November 2004.
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          9            I, SHARON CONOVER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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